
1 
 

CITY OF DELAWARE 
CITY COUNCIL 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
1 SOUTH SANDUSKY STREET 

7:00 P.M.  
 

AGENDA 
 
6:30 P.M. EXECUTIVE SESSION: pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 
121.22 (G) (3) pending or imminent court action, Section 121.22 (G) (1) 
personnel, Section 121.22 (G) (5) matters required to be kept confidential by 
State statute, Section 121.22 (G) (2) acquisition of property for public purpose 
and 121.22(G) (8) consideration of confidential information related to a request 
for economic development assistance. 
 
7:00 P.M. REGULAR MEETING August 26, 2019 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
2. INVOCATION – Pastor Al Perry, Compassion Church 

 
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
4. APPROVAL of the Motion Summary of the regular meeting of Council 

held on August 12, 2019, as recorded and transcribed. 
 

5. CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Civil Service 

Commission meeting held on June 5, 2019, as recorded and 
transcribed.  

B. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Finance Committee 
meeting held on June 17, 2019, as recorded and transcribed.  

C. Resolution No. 19-38, a resolution giving consent to the Director of 
the Ohio Department of Transportation for the completion of bridge 
inspection services within the City of Delaware as part of the State 
Bridge Inspection Program.  

D. Resolution No. 19-39, a resolution accepting the amounts and 
rates as determined by the Budget Commission and authorizing 
the necessary tax levies and certifying them to the County Auditor 
for Tax Year 2019/Budget Year 2020. 
 

6. LETTERS, PETITIONS, AND PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

7. COMMITTEE REPORTS 



2 
 

 
8. PRESENTATION 

A. Proclamation for Childhood Cancer Awareness Month presented to 
the Leach Family 

B. Presentation by PROS Consulting Inc. to explore a City of Delaware 
Parks and Recreation Master Plan – Austin Hochstetler, Senior 
Project Manager   

 
9. STAFF INTRODUCTION 

A. Natalia Harris, Chief Prosecutor 
 
10. DIRECTOR UPDATE 

A. Dean Stelzer, Finance Director 
 

11. THIRD READING of Resolution No. 19-34, a resolution accepting 
negotiated changes to the Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) patrol and 
supervisors agreements with the City of Delaware.  
 

12. SECOND READING of Resolution No. 19-35, a resolution adopting policy 
concerning the establishment of honorary street names.  
 

13. SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 19-46, an ordinance approving a 
Community Reinvestment Area Agreement and School Compensation 
Agreement with the Kroger Co., Olentangy City Schools and Delaware 
Area Career Center for investment in real property improvements on their 
building and parcel at 2000 Nutter Farms Lane, Delaware, Ohio and 
declaring an emergency.  
 

14. 7:30 P.M. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 
19-47, an ordinance approving a Rezoning Amendment for J. Jill 
Properties LLC., for the Rice Building from B-3 (Community Business 
District) to B-2 (Central Business District) at 50 West William Street on 
approximately 0.119 acres.  
 

15. SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 19-48, an ordinance approving a 
Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan for J. Jill Properties 
LLC., for the Rice Building at 50 West William Street on approximately 
0.119 acres and zoned B-2 (Central Business District).  
 

16. 7:40 P.M. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 
19-49, an ordinance approving a Rezoning Amendment for Makapa LLC., 
for Belle Common Business Park from R-3 (One-Residential District) to 
R-3 PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Used 
Overlay District) on approximately 11.128 acres (Parcels 419-122-01-



3 

027-000 & 419-122-01-029-000) and located on the north side of Belle 
Avenue and on the east side of Liberty Road.  

17. 7:40 P.M. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of Ordinance No.
19-50, an ordinance approving a Conditional Use Permit allowing the
placement of a PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) to be
established for Belle Commons Business Park on approximately 11.128
acres (Parcels 419-122-01-027-000 & 419-122-01-029-000) and located
on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the east side of Liberty Road.

18. SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 19-51, an ordinance approving a
Preliminary Development Plan for Makapa LLC., for Belle Commons
Business Park on approximately 11.128 acres on property zoned R-3
PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed use Overlay
District) and located on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the east
side of Liberty Road.

19. SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 19-52, an ordinance approving a
Preliminary Subdivision Plat for Makapa, LLC., for Belle Commons
Business Park on approximately 11.128 acres on property zoned R-3
(One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay
District) and located on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the east
side of Liberty Road.

20. CONSIDERATION of Resolution No. 19-40, a resolution adopting the
2020-2024 Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP).

21. DISCUSSION  and UPDATE ITEM:
A. Discussion of Rule Suspension Guidelines (time permitting)

22. FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT

23. CITY MANAGER’S  REPORT

24. COUNCIL COMMENTS

25. ADJOURNMENT

























  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM C DATE: 08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-38 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA: William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer  
 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION GIVING CONSENT TO THE DIRECTOR OF THE OHIO 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FOR THE COMPLETION OF BRIDGE 
INSPECTION SERVICES WITHIN THE CITY OF DELAWARE AS PART OF THE 
STATE BRIDGE INSPECTION PROGRAM. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The City of Delaware (CITY) has determined the need for annual inspections of 
qualified highway bridges in in accordance with State regulation. In 2017, the 
City entered into a three year agreement with the Ohio Department of 
Transportation (ODOT) to perform the inspections for all public highway 
bridges at no cost to the CITY. The current bridge inspection programing will 
expire in December 2019.  ODOT is in the process of renewing this program for 
three (3) more years.  The new agreement will be for the inspections performed 
in 2020, 2021, and 2022.  ODOT is hiring four (5) consultants to perform 
similar tasks as before, such as bridge inspections, load ratings, and any other 
requirements set by the FHWA in the publication Metrics for the Oversight of 
the National Bridge Inspection Program.  ODOT is requiring a new resolution to 
renew the agreement between ODOT and the CITY. Please see the consent form 
provided in the attachment and Scope of Services for additional details.  
 
 
 



REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Passage of this Resolution authorizes the City Manager to enter into a 
cooperative agreement with ODOT to perform the annual bridge inspections for 
the next three (3) years.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
By entering into this agreement with ODOT the CITY will secure a savings of 
approximately $20,000 in inspection costs annually over the next three (3) 
years that would otherwise be borne by the City to maintain compliance with 
State regulations.  
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
None, by entering into this agreement the CITY will continue a policy that was 
enacted in 2017. 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Scope of Services – Exhibit A 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 19-38 
 

A RESOLUTION GIVING CONSENT TO THE 
DIRECTOR OF THE OHIO DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION FOR THE COMPLETION OF 
BRIDGE INSPECTION SERVICES WITHIN THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE AS PART OF THE STATE BRIDGE 
INSPECTION PROGRAM. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware has determined the need for annual 

inspections of qualified highway bridges in in accordance with State regulation; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City in cooperation with the Ohio Department of 

Transportation, desires to participate in the Bridge Inspection Program Services, 
including, but not limited to routine inspections, element level inspections, 
critical-findings reports,  fracture critical member inspections, load rating 
calculations and reports, weight limits posting sign recommendations, scour 
assessments, scour plan of actions, development of fracture critical plans, and 
underwater dive inspection reports if needed. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 

SECTION 1. Being in the public interest, the City gives consent to the 
Director of Transportation to complete the above described project for a three 
year period commencing in 2020; 
 

SECTION 2. The State shall assume and bear 100% of all of the cost for 
Bridge Inspection Program Services requested by the City and agreed to by the 
State.  Eligible Bridge Inspection Services are described in the Consultant’s Scope 
of Services Task Order Contract (Exhibit A). 
 

 
SECTION 3. The City agrees to pay 100% of the cost of those features 

which are not included in Exhibit A.  Those features may include but not limited 
to the purchasing and erecting the recommended weight limits postings signs, 
the implementation of critical findings reports such as partial or total bridge 
closures, the implementation of the scour plan of actions. When 
recommendations affect public safety, ODOT expects full implementation by the 
City.  Starting in October 2019, FHWA requires installing weight limits posting 
signs within 30 days from the official date of the approved recommendations.  
Timely implementation is essential to the success of this program. 

 
Section 4.  The City agrees that all right-of-way required for the described 

project will be made available in accordance with current State and Federal 
regulations. 



 
SECTION 5.  That this resolution shall be in force and effect immediately 

upon its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



          PID No.: 109334 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COPY 

STATE OF OHIO 

 

_________________ of __________ County, Ohio 

        (LPA) 

 

 I, __________________________, as Clerk of the _____________________________  

        (LPA) 

of __________________ County, Ohio, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

_____________________________ adopted by the legislative Authority of the said  

      (Ordinance/Resolution)  

_________________________ on the ______________ day of ________________, 2_____. 

          (LPA) 

That the publication of such ______________________ has been made and certified of record according to 

              (Ordinance/Resolution) 

Law; that no proceedings looking to a referendum upon such _____________________ have been taken; 

       (Ordinance/Resolution) 

and that such ____________________and certificate of publication thereof are of record in _________________, 

Page _______________.              (Ordinance/Resolution) 

                (Record No.) 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name and affixed my official seal, if applicable, 

this _____________ day of __________________ 2______. 

 

      ___________________________________ 

        (Clerk) 

 

(CITY SEAL)     ____________________ of ___________ County, Ohio 

       (LPA) 

 

(If the LPA is designated as a City then the “City Seal” is required.  If no Seal, then a letter stating “No Seal is required to accompany the 

executed legislation.) 

 

 The aforegoing is accepted as a basis for proceeding with the project herein described. 

 For the ____________________ of _________ County, Ohio. 

                                  (LPA) 

 

Attested: _____________________   _________________________ Date _______________ 

                  (Contractual Agent) 

 

For the State of Ohio 

 

Attested: _____________________   __________________________     Date ________________ 

        (Director, Ohio Department of Transportation)   



General Engineering Services Scope of Services 
Central Office, Office of Structural Engineering 

PID No. 109334 

1 

 

        
       

Approved Final Scope of Services Minutes Date:      _______________ 
 
 

GENERAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
Central Office, Office of Structural Engineering 

Scope of Services 
 
 
 
The CONSULTANT may be required to perform the following services on a task order type 
basis for bridges designated by regulation or by agreement as City or Village inspection 
responsibility.  Tasks which may include but are not limited to the following: 
 
 Task 1 - Scour Tasks 
           Task 1A - Scour Critical Assessment 

Task 1B - Scour Plan-of-Action 
Task 1C – Scour Analysis 

 
 Task 2 - Load Rating Tasks 

Task 2A - Field Measurements for Load Rating  
Task 2B - Load Rating Calculations 
  

 Task 3 – SMS Structure Inventory and Review 
 
 Task 4 – Inspection Procedures 

      Task 4A - Fracture Critical Plan  
      Task 4B – Underwater Inspection Procedures 
 
Task 5 - Bridge Inspection  
 Task 5A – Routine Bridge Inspection 
 Task 5B – Fracture Critical Inspection 
 Task 5C – Underwater Dive Inspection 
  

 
Services shall be conducted in accordance with the following: 
 
• ODOT Manual of Bridge Inspection, Latest Version 

• ODOT SMS Bridge and Inventory Coding Guide, Latest Version 

• ODOT Bridge Design Manual, Section 900), Latest Version 

• Hydraulic Engineering Circulars 18, 20 and 23 

• The Manual for Bridge Evaluation, Second Edition 2013 interim with revisions, AASHTO 



General Engineering Services Scope of Services 
Central Office, Office of Structural Engineering 

PID No. 109334 

2 

 

Publication 

• Bridge Inspector's Reference Manual, FHWA NHI Publication Number: 12-049, 

Publication Year: 2012 

• Underwater Bridge Inspection, FHWA Publication Number: FHWA NHI-10-027, 

Publication Year: 2010 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The CONSULTANT shall maintain a project cost accounting system that will segregate costs 
for individual task orders. The invoicing progress reports shall be detailed enough to show the 
breakdown of each assigned structure indicating the status of all subtasks.  Completion of the 
individual subtasks in necessary for reimbursement credits. 
 
The Department will be performing an annual Quality Assurance Review (QAR) for each 
selected consultant in accordance with Manual of Bridge Inspection to ensure accuracy and 
consistency of the inspection and documentation in SMS.  This typically includes an office 
and field review. 
 
The project will be divided into four (4) sub-projects (SP).  A CONSULTANT will be selected 
for each sub-project.  Municipalities opted into the previous inspection program will have the 
option to renew their legislation.  Municipalities with population greater than 50,000 people 
are excluded from the program. The sub-projects have the following general geographic 
areas, category characteristics, and maximum contract values for the municipalities with 
municipal inspection responsibility obtained from SMS data as of March 2019.   
 
Project: SP01 - District (1, 2, &3), Total Structures = 435* 
Type L =< 20’ 20' < L =< 60’ 60' < L =< 200' L > 200' Total 

Single Span 170 158 24 0 352 
Multi-Span 21 18 29 15 83 
Culvert 156 45 0 0 201 
Truss 0 0 2 0 2 
Underwater Inspection 0 0 0 0 0 
Fracture Critical 
Inspection 

0 4 0 0 4 

Load Rating** 149 75 16 10 250 
* Level 1 bridge inspection structures 
** Tasked as budget allows w/priority for NBI bridges 
 
 
 



General Engineering Services Scope of Services 
Central Office, Office of Structural Engineering 

PID No. 109334 

3 

 

Project: SP02 - District (4, 11, &12), Total Structures = 270* 
Type L =< 20’ 20' < L =< 60’ 60' < L =< 200' L > 200' Total 

Single Span 86 86 25 0 197 
Multi-Span 16 14 27 16 73 
Culvert 82 36 0 0 118 
Truss 1 1 5 0 7 
Underwater Inspection 0 0 0 1 1 
Fracture Critical 
Inspection 

0 1 5 0 6 

Load Rating** 67 35 16 5 123 
* Level 1 Bridge Inspection structures 
** Tasked as budget allows w/priority for NBI bridges 
 
 
 
Project: SP03 - District (5, 6, &10), Total Structures = 355* 
Type L =< 20’ 20' < L =< 60’ 60' < L =< 200' L > 200' Total 

Single Span 132 126 29 0 287 
Multi-Span 7 8 35 18 68 
Culvert 108 62 4 0 174 
Truss 0 0 8 0 8 
Underwater Inspection 0 0 1 1 2 
Fracture Critical 
Inspection 

0 0 8 1 9 

Load Rating** 141 73 20 8 242 
* Level 1 bridge inspection structures 
** Tasked as budget allows w/priority for NBI bridges 
 
 
 
Project: SP04 - District (7, 8 &9), Total Structures = 426* 
Type L =< 20’ 20' < L =< 60’ 60' < L =< 200' L > 200' Total 

Single Span 150 125 29 0 304 
Multi-Span 27 42 41 12 122 
Culvert 135 93 30  231 
Truss 0 1 5 1 7 
Underwater Inspection 0 0 1 1 2 
Fracture Critical 
Inspection 

0 2 4 1 7 

Load Rating 180 81 27 2 290 
* Level 1 bridge inspection structures 
** Tasked as budget allows w/priority for NBI bridges 
 



General Engineering Services Scope of Services 
Central Office, Office of Structural Engineering 

PID No. 109334 

4 

 

Please note that the total number of structure types is estimated based on current SMS data 
query, and it may be adjusted when tasks are assigned in the future.   
 
 
 
UNDERSTANDING 
1. Inspections shall be completed by firm’s full-time staff prequalified with ODOT for Level 1 
bridge inspection according to the Manual of Bridge Inspection. 
 
2. Task order are intended for maintaining compliance with the FHWA 23-Mertics, Ohio 
Revised Code, and ODOT policy manuals.  Deadlines set by the task orders shall be 
respected. 
 
3. All reports and records compiled under this agreement shall become the property of the 
City or Village and shall be housed in the City or Village.  ODOT shall receive an electronic 
copy of plans, analysis files, reports and other items mentioned below.   

 
a) CONSULTANT shall perform all applicable updates to SMS with new or revised 

information for structure inventory and appraisal data, inspections, scour, fracture 
critical members, and load ratings. 
 

b) CONSULTANT shall submit copies of all reports and calculations electronically, or 
in hard copies when requested, to the City or Village for inclusion in their bridge 
records.  

 
c) This includes, as applicable, a printed copy of the inspection report, Scour Plan-of-

Action, Fracture Critical Plan, load rating report, gusset plate analysis, inspection 
procedures, and field measurement notes, digital pictures as well as a reproducible 
digital data file (.pdf, .doc, .xml, and .xls formats). 

 
4. Copies of all transmittal letters related to this Task Order shall be submitted to Central 
Office, Office of Structural Engineering.   

 
a) When required, CONSULTANTS shall locate the original construction plans, as-

built, and shop drawings from archive locations specified by the municipality and 
upload them onto SMS. 
 

 
Services to be furnished by CONSULTANT may include: 
 
TASK 1 - SCOUR TASKS 
 

Task 1A – Scour Critical Susceptibility NBIS Item 113) - The CONSULTANT shall 
refer to the most recent ODOT Manual of Bridge Inspection.  Deliverables include field 
notes, a completed Scour Critical Assessment Checklist as per Appendix I of the 2014 
Manual of Bridge Inspection, and any other reference material needed for the bridge 



General Engineering Services Scope of Services 
Central Office, Office of Structural Engineering 

PID No. 109334 

5 

 

owner to properly maintain their bridge files.  Channel photos or cross sections maybe 
tasked under this item if assigned. 

 
 

Task 1B - Scour Plan-of-Action - The CONSULTANT shall refer to the most recent 
ODOT Manual of Bridge Inspection Appendix H for the scope of this task.  
Deliverables include a completed Scour Plan-of-Action, field notes, calculations, and 
any other reference material needed by bridge owner to maintain bridge files. 

 
TASK 2 – LOAD RATING TASKS 
 

Task 2A - Field Measurements for Load Rating - Should no plans exist or if 
additional information is required, each main member shall be field measured for load 
rating.   The condition of the member should be noted on the field documentation. All 
measurements shall be included in the load rating report.   

 
Task 2B - Load Rating Calculations – A bridge carrying vehicular traffic shall be 
rated to determine the safe load carrying capacity. The CONSULTANT shall review 
existing bridge plans and inspection reports and other inspection information such as 
photographs and estimates of section loss for bridge members and connections.  The 
analysis for existing structures shall be performed for AASHTO HS20-44 [MS 18] 
(truck, lane, & military) loading for both inventory and operating levels, and for the four 
Ohio Legal Loads including the special hauling vehicles (2F1, 3F1, 4F1, and 5C1, 
SU4, SU5, SU6, SU7, EV2, and EV3) at operating level.  The CONSULTANT shall try 
to complete the load rating analysis utilizing BrR (Virtis) at first. Hand-calculations or 
Spreadsheets if BrR is not applicable. The BrR analysis file, other load rating files, and 
BR100 shall be included with the submittal to OSE. 
 
The inventory and operating ratings shall be coded as per the most recent version of 
the ODOT Bridge Inventory Coding Guide.  Update SMS Inventory with the load rating 
results and upload BR100 pdf file. 
 
The electronic deliverable shall include if applicable an Excel spreadsheet or other 
files used for analysis for each bridge which shall include the member areas, member 
capacities both with and without section loss, influence lines (can be the ordinates or 
graph of the lines), dead loads and dead load stresses in members, live loads and live 
load stresses in members for all truck loadings and the load ratings of the members.  
Truck loadings to be used for the ratings are specified in BDM Section 900. 
 
The Load Rating Report shall be prepared by a registered or non-registered engineer 
and it shall be checked, signed, sealed and dated by an Ohio Registered Professional 
Engineer.  
 
The Load Rating Report shall explain the method used to calculate the load rating of 
each bridge. 

  



General Engineering Services Scope of Services 
Central Office, Office of Structural Engineering 

PID No. 109334 

6 

 

AASHTO Load Factor Rating (LFR) shall be utilized for all bridges not designed by 
Load and Resistance Factor Design.  AASHTO Load and Resistance Factor Rating 
(LRFR) shall be utilized for all structures designed for HL93 loading starting October 
2010. 
 
Load Rating Report Submittal to the City or Village shall include: 

 
a. Two (2) printed copies and one electronic pdf copy of the Load Rating Report 

for each bridge. 
 

b. Final summary of inventory and operating ratings for each member and the 
overall ratings of the structure shall be presented for each live load truck.  An 
acceptable format is ODOT form BR-100. 

 
c. Analysis program input files. Both input and output files shall be submitted when 

programs other than BrR or spreadsheets are used. 
 

d. All calculations related to the load rating. 
 

e. If applicable, the weight limits posting recommendations including a copy of the 
standard posting sign; such as R12-1 (24” x 30”), R12-H5 (30” x 48”), and R12-
H7 (30” x 30”). 

 
 
TASK 3 – SMS STRUCTURE INVENTORY AND REVIEW 

The scope of this task includes a limited review of the structure inventory data in the 
ODOT SMS.  In general, the CONSULTANT shall review specific existing ODOT 
bridge inventory records (as provided by the City and approved by ODOT) of the 
designated bridge.  The CONSULTANT may download the inventory report, which 
contains inventory data for each bridge on file with ODOT from the ODOT website. 
 The CONSULTANT shall verify this data and determine if the ODOT SMS structure 
file information needs changing.  If no changes are necessary, then no SMS inventory 
needs to be filled out.  If changes are necessary, the scope of this task shall also 
include completing and filing inventory updates (and supplements, as needed) in SMS.  
The CONSULTANT shall refer to the ODOT Office of Structural Engineering Inventory 
and Coding Guide of SMS for inventory coding details.   

 
TASK 4 – INSPECTION PROCEDURES 
 
Task 4A – Fracture Critical Plan – A Fracture Critical Member Plan and inspection   

procedure shall be developed and updated.  For more details, refer to Chapter 4: 
Inspection Types in the Manual of Bridge Inspection.  It shall include: 
 

1. Sketches of the superstructure with locations of all fatigue and fracture prone 
details identified.   
a. Use framing plan or schematic with detail locations labeled and a legend 

explaining each labeled item on the scheme. 



General Engineering Services Scope of Services 
Central Office, Office of Structural Engineering 

PID No. 109334 

7 

 

b. Use an elevation view for trusses. 
c. Classify similar fatigue/fracture prone details as types (e.g. end of partial 

cover plate). 
2. A table or location of important structural details indicating: 

a. Type of detail (e.g. end of partial cover plate, short web gap, etc.) 
b. Location of each occurrence of detail 
c. AASHTO Fatigue Category of detail 
d. Identify retrofits previously installed 

 
3.      Risk Factors Influencing the inspector access. 

 
Photos and sketches shall be properly referenced.  The CONSULTANT shall refer to 
the most recent ODOT Manual of Bridge Inspection for additional details on the scope 
of this task. 

 
Task 4B – Underwater Inspection Procedures – An underwater inspection procedure shall 

be developed.  For more details, refer to Chapter 4: Underwater Inspections in the 
Manual of Bridge Inspection.  Please note that ODOT has recently revised Appendix F 
of the inspection manual.  The diving team shall fill out or update the new form and 
upload it on SMS prior to performing the actual dives.  Please contact OSE for a copy 
of a blank form if not uploaded on SMS at the time. 

 
 
TASK 5 – BRIDGE INSPECTION 
 

Task 5A – Routine Bridge Inspection (SMS Input) - Perform a routine field 
inspection of the structure to determine the general condition.  The CONSULTANT 
shall refer to the most recent ODOT Manual of Bridge Inspection for additional details 
on the scope of this task. Section 1111 of the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st 
Century Act (MAP-21) modified 23 U.S.C.144, requires Ohio to report bridge element 
level data for NBIS bridges on the National Highway System (NHS) to FHWA.  A 
condition rating or element level inspection will be assigned.  This task includes:  
Condition Rating Inspection for non-NBI structures, Condition Rating Inspection for 
NBI structures, and Element Level Inspection for NBI classified as NHS. 
 
Task 5B – Fracture Critical Inspection - Perform a fracture critical field inspection of 
fracture critical items.  The CONSULTANT shall update the FCM inspection procedure 
with current photos and descriptions. The CONSULTANT shall refer to the most recent 
ODOT Manual of Bridge Inspection for additional details on the scope of this task. 

 
Task 5C – Underwater Dive Inspection – Perform Underwater/ In-Water inspection 
of substructure units according to the cycle shown in SMS.  Emergency underwater 
inspection may arise for specific structures over the duration of the contract period.  
Work shall be done in accordance with the reference manuals and inspection 
procedure.  Scour risk shall be evaluated after field and data collection. 

 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM D DATE:   08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-39 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Dean Stelzer, Finance Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE AMOUNTS AND RATES AS DETERMINED BY 
THE BUDGET COMMISSION AND AUTHORIZING THE NECESSARY TAX 
LEVIES AND CERTIFYING THEM TO THE COUNTY AUDITOR FOR TAX YEAR 
2019/BUDGET YEAR 2020. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Before October 1st of each year, the City is required by Ohio Revised Code to 
authorize through resolution the tax levy rates for the upcoming budget year.  
These rates provide the County with an amount to tax each landowner within 
the taxing district in order to collect the amount due to the City for real estate 
taxes in the next calendar year.   
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Ohio Revised Code § 5705.34 requires “Each taxing authority, by ordinance or 
resolution, shall authorize the necessary tax levies and certify them to the county 
auditor before the first day of October in each year” 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
None 
 



 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Dean Stelzer, Finance Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
2020 Schedule A, Official Certificate of Estimated Resources 



RESOLUTION NO.19-39 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE AMOUNTS AND 
RATES AS DETERMINED BY THE BUDGET 
COMMISSION AND AUTHORIZING THE NECESSARY 
TAX LEVIES AND CERTIFYING THEM TO THE COUNTY 
AUDITOR FOR TAX YEAR 2019/BUDGET YEAR 2020. 

 
 

WHEREAS, The Budget Commission of Delaware County, Ohio has 
certified its action thereon to this Council together with an estimate by the 
County Auditor of the rate of each tax necessary to be levied by this Council, and 
what part thereof is without, and what part within the ten mill tax limitation. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 

 
SECTION 1.  That the amounts and rates, as determined by the Budget 

Commission in its certification, be and the same are hereby accepted. 
 
 SECTION 2.  That there be and is hereby levied on the tax duplicate of said 
City the rate of each tax necessary to be levied within and without the ten mill 
limitation as provided in Schedule A hereby attached.  
 
 SECTION 3. That the Clerk of Council be, and is hereby directed to certify 
a copy of this Resolution to the County Auditor of said County. 
 

SECTION 4.  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after passage. 

 
SECTION 5.   That the Council of the City of Delaware, Delaware, County, 

Ohio met in regular session on the  ____ day of September, 2019 in City Council 
Chambers: 

 
Mr./Ms.                                             moved to adopt the following 

Resolution, seconded by Mr./Ms.                                            and the roll being 
called upon its adoption the vote resulted as follows: 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________        ________________________ 

CITY CLERK     MAYOR 







 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PRESENTATION ITEM B: 
 

PROS Consulting Inc. 





















  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO: `11    DATE: 08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-34 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING NEGOTIATED CHANGES TO THE FRATERNAL 
ORDER OF POLICE (FOP) PATROL AND SUPERVISORS AGREEMENTS WITH 
THE CITY OF DELAWARE. 

 
BACKGROUND: 
The City and the FOP patrol and supervisors groups have reached a tentative 
agreement which Council requires council approval to become effective.  The 
changes, attached to this item, can be summarized as follows:  The contract 
includes a 3%, 3%, 3% wage package.  The move to step 2 in the pay plan has 
been adjusted to align with when the officer completes the Field Training 
Officer Program, which is when the officer starts working on his or her own.  In 
cases where an officer is hired without his or her commission, this would push 
the increase back by about four months.  In cases where an officer already has 
his or her commission, the raise would come sooner.  This additional cost is 
offset by the savings in not having to pay the officer’s salary while he or she is 
in the academy. 
 
The contract also includes some cleanup language, such as allowing an officer 
to use compensatory time for approved leave on a holiday, addressing what 
happens when an officer is subpoenaed on his/her vacation, and compensating 
an officer in charge at the third step of the supervisors rate, which aligns with 
longtime practice but not the contractual language. 
 



Finally the agreement continues the existing wellness program until 2021, 
unless a replacement program is agreed to before then. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The contract includes a 3%, 3%, 3% wage package.   
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Revised Articles 



RESOLUTION NO. 19-34 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING NEGOTIATED CHANGES 
TO THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE (FOP) 
PATROL AND SUPERVISORS AGREEMENTS WITH 
THE CITY OF DELAWARE. 
 

WHEREAS, the existing contracts with the FOP patrol and supervisors 
units expired on June 25, 2019; and  

 
WHEREAS, adoption of the new negotiated contracts with the FOP 

employees, effective June 26, 2019, requires approval of a majority of City 
Council members and a majority of members of the FOP units; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 
SECTION 1.  The negotiated changes to the contracts between the City of 

Delaware and the Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) patrol and supervisors units 
are hereby accepted. 

 
SECTION 2.  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 

immediately after passage. 

 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________        ________________________ 

CITY CLERK     MAYOR 
 
 
 



AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF DELAWARE 

AND THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE,  
OHIO LABOR COUNCIL, INC. 

ON BEHALF OF THE PATROL OFFICERS’ 
BARGAINING UNIT 

OF THE POLICE DEPARTMENT OF THE 
CITY OF DELAWARE 

EFFECTIVE DATES 
JUNE 26, 2019 - JUNE 25, 2022 



 9

ARTICLE 6 
 

DUES 
 
Section 1.  Labor Council Dues Deductions. 

The City agrees to deduct from the wages of any employee who is a member of the Labor 

Council, all Labor Council membership dues uniformly required.  The Labor Council will 

notify the City from time to time of the dues it charges and its current membership.  All 

members of the Bargaining Unit shall either become dues paying members of the F.O.P. 

Ohio Labor Council or, as a condition of continued employment, remit to the Labor 

Council a fair-share fee in amount set from time to time by the Labor Council in 

accordance with the provisions of O.R.C. 4117.09(C).  Said amount shall be deducted 

from all wages of all such non-members on the same basis as the deductions made for 

dues from members of the Labor Council.  Nothing in this section shall be construed to 

require any employee to become a member of the Labor Council.  The Labor Council 

agrees to save the City harmless in the event of any legal controversy with regard to the 

application of this provision.  All dues and fair-share fees collected shall be paid over by 

the employer once each month to the F.O.P. Ohio Labor Council at 222 E. Town Street, 

Columbus, Ohio 43215. 

Section 2.  F.O.P. Dues Deductions. 

The City will deduct from the  wages and turn over to the appropriate designated officer 

of the local Fraternal Order of Police, Delaware County Lodge, the regularly monthly 

F.O.P. dues of such member who shall individually and voluntarily certify in writing that 

they authorize such deduction.  This authorization shall be specifically in writing and will 

require the employee and the F.O.P. to agree to hold the City harmless for any payment 

made to the F.O.P. by the City during the term of this voluntary assignment.  The amount 

deducted from the employee's paycheck with regard to the local dues which are 



 10

voluntarily authorized shall be turned over to the F.O.P. Delaware County Lodge no later 

than thirty (30) days following such deduction. 

Section 3.  Other Deductions. 

The City further agrees to deduct from the pay of those employees authorizing such 

deduction, and turn over to the appropriate party, monies designated for purposes such as 

credit union, savings bonds, United Appeal, and similar causes in accordance with the 

City's current policy on payroll deductions.  These deductions shall be subject to the 

City's ability to maintain an efficient payroll procedure. 

Section 4.  Bulletin Boards. 

The F.O.P. shall be provided an F.O.P. bulletin board at Police headquarters.  F.O.P. 

bulletins and F.O.P. material only will be permitted to be posted on this board.  

Section 5.  Ballot Boxes. 

The F.O.P. shall be permitted, upon prior notification to the Chief of Police, to place a 

ballot box at Police headquarters up to four times per calendar year for the purpose of 

collecting members' ballots on all F.O.P. issues subject to ballot.  Such boxes shall be the 

property of the F.O.P. and neither the ballot boxes nor their contents shall be subject to 

the Department's review. 

Section 6.  Bargaining Unit Meetings. 

The F.O.P. shall be permitted, upon prior written request to the Chief of Police, to hold 

meetings, for F.O.P. members employed by the City of Delaware, at Police Headquarters 

or City Council Chambers.  The notification required under this Section shall be 

delivered to the Chief at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time for the requested 

meeting and shall state the date, time, and requested location of the meeting.  The City 

agrees to allow the F.O.P. to use the requested location on the date and at the time 

specified in the F.O.P. request provided the location is not otherwise in use.  However,  

under no circumstances will F.O.P. use of these facilities be permitted to interfere with 



 11

the business of the City.  In the event that permission is granted at the time of the request 

and the requested facility, due to unexpected events arising during the 48-hour notice 

period, is needed for City business, then the permission will be revoked.  In the event the 

permission must be revoked, the City will, if possible, give the F.O.P. at least twelve (12) 

hours notice of the revocation.  If it is impossible to give twelve (12) hours notice, the 

City will give the F.O.P. as much notice as is possible. 

Section 7.  Use of Intra-Departmental Mails. 

The F.O.P. shall be permitted to utilize the intra-departmental mail boxes and email for 

the purpose of providing information pertaining to F.O.P. business or Bargaining Unit 

representation, to Bargaining Unit members.  The F.O.P. agrees that the use of the mail 

boxes and email will be reasonable and limited to providing information that is necessary 

for the normal conduct of F.O.P. business or Bargaining Unit representation.  The City 

reserves the right to deny such access in the event that the use of such boxes or email 

interferes with the business of the City or the Police Department by restricting access to 

such boxes or email for City or Police Department business.  All mail placed into the 

mail boxes by the F.O.P. shall be the property of the Bargaining Unit members to whom 

it is addressed, and such mail shall not be subjected to the City's review.  Email will be 

subject to current City policy and procedures. 

 



 17

 

ARTICLE 10 

CORRECTIVE ACTION AND RECORDS 

A. No bargaining unit member shall be removed, reduced in pay or position, 

suspended or reprimanded except for just cause.  Both parties further agree that 

records of Instruction and Cautioning and Written Reprimands are subject to the 

grievance process up to the City Manager level.  All other grievances are subject 

to the full grievance process. 

B. The City agrees to follow the principle of progressive corrective action.  The 

Chief of Police may skip any step of progressive action if the violations are of a 

very serious nature.  Further, the City agrees to fairly and equitably discipline 

members. 

C. Use of Prior Discipline. 

In assessing proper levels of discipline, the City will take into account the length 

of time since any previous discipline or offenses have occurred.  Records of 

instruction and cautioning will not be used as a basis for further discipline one (1) 

year or more after issuance, if no further discipline has occurred.  Records of 

written reprimand will not be used as a basis for further discipline two (2) years or 

more after issuance if no further discipline has occurred.  All other forms of 

discipline shall be removed from the personnel file upon a Member’s request 

three (3) years from the date of issuance if no further discipline has occurred.  

Providing there has been no intervening discipline, discipline records after the 1, 2 

or 3 year period shall be removed from the file and disposed of or maintained in 

accordance with the City’s public records retention schedule then in effect. 

D. Review of Personnel Files. 



 18

Any member shall be allowed, upon request, to review his personnel file. between 

8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  Such request shall be made to 

the Chief of Police directly and review shall be made in the presence of the Chief 

or his designated representative.  Upon a third party request for a police officer’s 

file, the City will notify the Chief of Police or his/her designee, or the office of the 

Chief of Police, that such a request has been made.  The City will use reasonable 

efforts to make this contact before such release of requested information, 

however, both parties recognize this may not always be possible.  The City shall 

comply with all applicable laws on this subject.  The parties recognize that the 

City may be required to disclose information from a member's personnel file 

pursuant to State or Federal laws and current court decisions, and that such 

disclosure made pursuant to such laws does not constitute a violation of any 

provision of this Agreement.  The City also agrees that they will notify the 

member in writing of any such disclosures.  Any member may copy documents in 

his/her file. 

E. Performance Evaluations. 

 A member's signature on any performance evaluation, if any, shall be viewed by 

the parties hereto only as a representation that he has read it; it shall not be viewed 

as a representation that he concurred in any or all of the contents or comments 

thereon.  The member shall be the last person to sign an evaluation and no 

evaluation comments may be made on record copies thereafter.  The member 

shall receive a copy of the evaluation in its final form when he signs it. 

F. Inaccurate Documents. 

 Should any member have reason to believe that there are inaccuracies in 

documents contained in his file, he may write a memorandum to the Chief 

explaining the alleged inaccuracy.  If the Chief concurs with the member's 



 19

contention, he shall attach the member's memorandum to the document in the file 

and note thereon his concurrence with the memorandum's content and disposed in 

accordance with the City’s public records retention schedule then in effect.  A 

member shall have the right to attach a rebuttal or explanation statement to any 

document in his personnel file.  The official personnel file of all members is kept 

at the Department of Administrative Services.  



 28

ARTICLE 14 
 

WAGES 

 
Section 1.  Pay Ranges and Rates.  For the dates specified below, the new pay rates are 
effective for the pay period including the date.  The following pay rates, reflecting a 1.9 3% 
increase for 2017 2020, and a 2 3% increase for 2018 2021 and a 2 3% increase for 2019 2022 
will be paid members.  
 
 
 

Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5 

Eff. 
1/1/2020  $28.72  $30.52  $32.70  $38.30  $40.02 

$59,737.60  $63,481.60  $68,016.00  $79,664.00  $83,241.60 

Eff. 
1/1/2021  $29.58  $31.43  $33.68  $39.44  $41.22 

$61,526.40  $65,374.40  $70,054.40  $82,035.20  $85,737.60 

Eff. 
1/1/2022  $30.47  $32.38  $34.69  $40.63  $42.45 

$63,377.60  $67,350.40  $72,155.20  $84,510.40  $88,296.00 

 
 
 
Section 2.  Pension “Pick-Up”. 

Effective on a date to be determined the City will no longer pick up (assume and pay) 
any portion of the employee contribution to the Police and Fire Pension Fund. 

 
 
 
Section 3.  Application of Hourly Rates 

The hourly rates as set forth under this section are based on a 40-hour workweek and 
shall be used to calculate salaries for hours actually worked or in paid status for the 
appropriate pay range and pay step. 



 29

 

 
 ARTICLE 15 

 PAY PLAN ADMINISTRATION 
 
Section 1. 

The police pay plan shall consist of five (5) individual steps within a single pay grade 

through which police officers shall move laterally (from Step One to Step Five) as 

depicted below: 

The Chief of Police and Department of Administrative Services shall determine the 

entrance level and minimum salary for each Police Officer. 

A. When a Police Officer is hired at Step 1, the following occurs: 

 Police Officers shall advance to Step Two (2) on the first day of the pay 

period following completion of the Field Training Officer (FTO) 

program six (6) months of continuous service at the Step One (1) level. 

 Police Officers shall advance to Step Three (3) on the first day of the pay 

period following successful completion of the probationary period.   

 Police Officers shall advance to Step Four (4) on the first day of the pay 

period following completion of one (1) year of continuous service at the 

Step Three (3) level. 

 Police Officers shall advance to Step Five (5) on the first day of the pay 

period following completion of one (1) year of continuous service at the 

Step Four (4) level. 

B. When a Police Officer is hired higher than Step 1, the following occurs: 

 Police Officers shall advance to the next scheduled step on the first day of 

the pay period following completion of their probationary period one 

(1) year of continuous service at the previous step level. 



 30

C. The date upon which Police Officers officially earns compensation shall 

constitute the Police Officers hire date and shall serve as the basis upon which any 

accrual of salary and/or benefits provided under this Agreement are calculated. 

D. Time off without pay shall delay any salary step increases by an equivalent 

amount of workdays involved.  The effective date of such return to regular paid 

status shall serve as the new basis for any accrual of salary and/or benefits. 

E. All salary rates provided by this Agreement are determined on the basis of regular 

full-time employment by the City.  All such salary benefits shall be paid bi-

weekly. 

F. Salary step advancements prescribed in this article shall occur automatically with 

regard to Police Officers. 

G. Members who are required to perform the duties of the Sergeant's classification 

will receive compensation for the time performing these duties at the step three 

(3) one (1) Sergeant's rate.  The additional compensation, over and above the top 

patrolman's rate, will be paid at the step three (3) one (1) Sergeant’s rate.  With 

respect to the second and third shifts, this provision shall apply automatically 

anytime a sergeant is not on duty. 

H. Members serving as a Field Training Officer (FTO) shall be paid one (1) hour of 

compensatory time for each work day served in said capacity. 

Section 2.  Specifications of the Pay Plan. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section 1 above, the rate of pay for members 

affected by personnel actions listed below shall be as follows:  

A. Disciplinary Demotion.  Whenever a member is demoted for disciplinary 

reasons, he shall be paid at the applicable step based on years of service. 



 31

B. Voluntary or Disability Demotion. 

(1) Whenever a member with regular full-time status requests and is granted a 

voluntary demotion, he shall be paid at the top step in the lower pay grade. 

(2)  Whenever a member with regular full-time status is given a demotion by 

reason of a service-connected disability, he shall be paid at the top step in the 

lower pay grade. 

(3) Whenever a member is terminated due to either a lack of work and/or funds in 

one classification and is entitled to an automatic demotion to a lower 

classification where he previously held regular full-time status, the rate of pay 

of the member shall be established as provided in (1) above. 

(4) Whenever a member is given a demotion due to a disability, his rate of pay 

shall be established as described in either (1) or (2) above, whichever is 

applicable. 

C. Reappointment.  Whenever a member is reappointed to a position where he 

previously held regular full-time status, his rate of pay shall be at the step and 

grade at which he was being paid at the time of his separation from that class with 

the approval of the Chief of Police. 

D. Re-employment.  Whenever a member is reemployed by the City, his rate of pay 

shall be at the step and grade at which he was being paid at the time of his 

separation from City employment, with the approval of the Chief of Police.  

      
 



 32

ARTICLE 16 
 

HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 
  
Section 1.  Definition. 

The workweek shall consist of 40 hours per week (five 8-hour work days or four 10-hour 

work days) or a section 207(k) system authorized by the Fair Labor Standards Act. While 

the current (4-2) 207(k) system is in effect, two scheduled days off a year will be 

rescheduled as work days with the intent that these will be used by the City as training 

days.  In lieu of using two scheduled days off per year for training purposes, a member 

may be required to forfeit up to 16 hours of banked time on the last pay period of the 

year.  The City may change to a work week of five 8-hour work days or four 10-hour 

work days at its sole discretion.  If the City contemplates a change to a different 207(k) 

system, the City will meet and confer with the F.O.P. in an effort to reach agreement on 

the schedule.    Any change in the schedule will be made with three (3) months notice to 

members. 

 Absent emergency conditions requiring otherwise, days off shall always be consecutive 

days, though not necessarily in the same workweek.   The City will make every effort to 

insure each Member is able to take a thirty (30) minute lunch period while on duty, as 

calls for services and usual and emergency duties allow.  The City retains full discretion 

in this matter.  The salary and wage ranges prescribed in the pay plan for the respective 

positions are based upon a workweek of 40 hours and a work year of 2,080 hours  

Section 2.  Work Schedule. 

The City recognizes the benefit to be achieved from advanced notice of scheduling and, 

accordingly, agrees that, unless unusual circumstances prohibit, the work schedule for the 

bargaining unit members will be posted at least six (6) weeks prior to the implementation 

of the schedule.  Also, if changes in the posted work schedule become necessary, the 

effected members will be notified of such changes as far in advance as possible.   



 33

 

 

Section 3.  Overtime. 

Members shall be compensated at straight-time rates for all hours in paid status, except 

that all hours in paid status in excess of the hours of their regularly scheduled work day in 

any day shall be compensated for at a rate of time and one-half.  Payment shall be made 

for any overtime due at the time of separation from City service.   

Section 4.  Overtime Policy. 

It shall be the policy of the Administration to avoid overtime work except when 

absolutely necessary.  If overtime is worked without the advance authorization of the 

appropriate supervisor, except that in an emergency or an ongoing incident that extends 

past a Member’s shift such authorization may be granted subsequently, the member shall 

be subject to discipline up to and including termination. 

Section 5.   Report in Pay/Call in Pay/Court Pay.   

1. When a member is ordered or called to report for work outside of a regular scheduled 

shift, he shall be paid three (3) times his base hourly rate for the first hour and one and 

one-half (1 ½) times his base hourly rate for all other hours worked for which he is 

ordered or called to work (including off-duty court appearances).   

2. When a member is ordered or called to report for work, two (2) hours or less prior to the 

start of a regular scheduled shift, or within one-half (1/2) hour from the time he reports 

off duty he shall be paid one and one-half (1 ½) times his base hourly rate for all hours 

worked for which he is ordered or called to work (including off-duty court appearances): 

however only for off-duty court appearances prior to the start of a regularly scheduled 

shift, the member will be paid from when he reports to court up to and through the 

beginning of the start of his regularly scheduled shift.   



 34

3. When a member is subpoenaed for court on an approved vacation day, he shall 

inform his supervisor and the court within 48 hours of receiving the subpoena that 

he is not available that day.  The member will make a reasonable attempt to have 

the subpoena dismissed.  If the subpoena is not dismissed and the member is 

required to appear, the member shall be paid a minimum of three times his hourly 

rate for the first hour, and one and one half (1 ½) times his hourly rate for all 

subsequent hours required for the court appearance.  All vacation hours will be 

returned to the member’s vacation bank for the time actually spent for the court 

appearance during what would have been his regularly scheduled work hours.   

 

Section 6.  Compensatory Time Off or Cash Payments. 

All overtime earned shall be compensated for by cash payments unless the member elects 

to receive compensatory time off.  Such compensatory time off shall equal one and one-

half hours for each hour of overtime compensation to which the member is entitled.  No 

member may accumulate more than two hundred (200) hours of compensatory time.  Any 

member who reaches the maximum hourly limit shall thereafter be paid overtime 

compensation for overtime hours worked. 

Section 7.  Separation Payment for Compensatory Time. 

A.  A member who is to be separated from the service through discharge, resignation, 

retirement, or layoff, and who has unused compensatory time to his credit, shall be 

paid the cash value for such accrued compensatory time. 

B. When a member dies while in paid status, the cash value of any unused compensatory 

time, in addition to vacation leave pay to his credit, shall be paid to the surviving 

spouse or to the estate of the deceased member. 

C. A member may elect to cash in up to two (2) weeks of compensatory time and receive 

equivalent pay during any calendar year.  A member must inform the Chief of Police 



 35

prior to August 1 of the year preceding the calendar year in which he intends to make 

the trade. 

 

Section 8.  Exchange of Shifts/Duty Days. 

Members shall be permitted, with the approval of their immediate supervisors, to 

exchange a work day or shift assignment.  However, exchanges of workdays or shift 

assignments lasting two or more consecutive days shall require the approval of the Chief 

of Police or his designee. 

 

 

 

Section 9.  On-Call Pay. 

Effective January 1, 2005, all permanently assigned detectives shall receive an annual 

stipend of five hundred dollars ($500) for being subjected to the “on-call rotation.”  Said 

stipend shall be paid in two annual installments in the same manner as longevity pay. 

Section 10.  Yearly Time Change. 

A member shall be paid at overtime rate for the one extra hour actually worked on the 

hour of the fall time change to Eastern Standard Time.  The officer shall have one hour of 

straight time pay or other accumulated time subtracted from his/her leave balance if 

scheduled to work on the hour in spring when Daylight Savings Time takes effect. 

 



 39

ARTICLE 19 
 

CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT ALLOWANCE 
 
Section 1.  Initial Issue. 

Upon appointment, each recruit shall receive a full issue of uniforms and equipment from 

the City.  All such purchases shall be made by the Delaware Police Department.   

Section 2.  Annual Allowance. 

All bargaining Unit members shall receive an annual uniform allowance in the amount of 

Six Hundred and Seventy Five Dollars ($675.00) per year for the calendar years 2017 and 

2018; and then Seven Hundred Dollars ($700.00) for calendar year 2019.  All such 

uniform purchases shall be made by the Delaware Police Department.   

Section 3.  Specialty Assignment Initial Issue 

 All bargaining unit members who are assigned to specialty positions as K-9 Officer, Bike 

Patrol Officer, or Delaware Tactical Unit member will be provided with two full uniforms upon 

assignment.   

Section 4.  Maintenance Allowance. 

All bargaining Unit members shall receive a maintenance allowance of four hundred 

($400.00) in January of each year.   

Section 5.  Lost or Damaged Uniforms and Equipment. 

The City will replace or repair any lost or damaged department property or equipment, 

including members' uniforms, provided the loss or damage is not the result of the 

members' intentional abuse or gross negligence. 

Section 6.  Damaged Eyeglasses. 

Eyeglasses which are lost or damaged while the bargaining unit member is engaged in the 

performance of their duties, not resulting from negligent action, shall be compensated for 

by the City at the current rate of replacement up to a limit of four hundred ($400) dollars.  

For an affected employee to afford themselves the benefit of this reimbursement, the 



 40

employee shall provide the employer a written explanation of the incident that gave cause 

for such loss or damage.  Upon receiving such signed report, the employer shall include 

the proper amount of funds to comply with the requested reimbursement in the 

employee’s next pay.  Such reimbursement shall be made no more than once in any 

twelve (12) month period. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 41

ARTICLE 20 
 

HOLIDAY PAY 
 
Section 1.  Holidays.  The following are designated as paid holidays for members: 
 
 New Year's Day    

Martin Luther King Day    
Lincoln’s Birthday    
Washington’s Birthday   
Memorial Day     
Independence Day    
Labor Day     
Little Brown Jug Day, ½ day   
Columbus Day    
Veteran’s Day     

 Thanksgiving Day    
Day after Thanksgiving   
Day before Christmas, ½ day   
Christmas Day     

 
Section 2.  Holiday Time Off. 

For each holiday observed on a member's workday, said member shall work that holiday 

unless the member requests and is granted the day off by the Chief of Police through the 

use of vacation leave, comp time or holiday leave.   

Section 3.  Holiday Payment. 

For each of the holidays specified in Section 1 of this article on which a member works, 

he shall be entitled to holiday compensation equal to double the member's regular rate of 

pay, except that members shall be entitled to holiday compensation at two and one-half 

times the member's rate of pay if they work on any of the following holidays:  New 

Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and 

Christmas Day. 

Members who do not work on a designated holiday, either because they are not scheduled 

to work that day or because they request and are granted vacation leave or holiday leave, 

will receive holiday compensation  of eight (8) hours pay at the member's regular hourly 

rate. 



 42

Holiday compensation will be a combination of cash payment and compensatory time off 

in accordance with the City's current practice on holiday compensation.   

Section 4.  Celebration Day for Holidays. 

For purposes of holidays, holiday time shall apply to the tour of duty beginning on the 

day which is celebrated as a holiday, except that for third shift personnel who work the 

night before the holiday, the tour of duty beginning the night before the holiday shall be 

considered the holiday tour. 

Section 5.  Holiday Time. 

Use of holiday time or personal days shall be at the member's discretion with the 

approval of the Chief of Police or designee.  In the event requests to use holiday or 

personal time off are submitted by more than one member for the same time period and 

otherwise approved by the Chief of Police or designee then the member with most 

seniority will be given priority if his request was submitted no less than twenty-eight (28) 

days before the requested time off.  Otherwise, conflicting requests will be prioritized for 

consideration on a first-come, first-served basis.   

Section 6.  Accumulation of Holiday Time. 

All members will be permitted to accumulate three (3) year's worth of holiday time.  A 

member’s current accumulation of personal days will not count towards this maximum 

accumulation level.  A member may elect to cash in up to one year's worth of holiday  

time each year.  If a member accumulates the maximum amount of time off allowable 

under this section, then future holiday will be paid in cash at the time it is earned.  The 

Department Head will post a notice in June informing members of the required deadline 

for selling holiday time and personal leave.  A member must inform the Department 

Head prior to August 1 of the year preceding the calendar year in which the member 

intends to make the trade. 

Section 7.  Separation for Holiday and Overtime Accumulation. 



 58

ARTICLE 26 
 

MILITARY LEAVE 
 
Section 1.  Military Leave. 
 

A. Paid Leave.   

Sworn officers of the Police Department who are members of the Ohio National 

Guard, U.S. Air Force Reserves, or the U.S. Army Reserves, U.S. Marine Corps 

Reserves, U.S. Coast Guard Reserves, or the U.S. Naval Reserves shall be granted 

military leave of absence with pay and shall not be required to use vacation leave 

when ordered to temporary active duty or when ordered to military training 

exercises conducted in the field for a period not to exceed twenty-one (21) 

calendar days in any one calendar  year.  of up to one month, for each federal 

fiscal year in which they are performing services in the uniformed services. 

(Federal fiscal year is October 1 – September 30. “Month” for purposes of 

this article means 176 hours.)  Excepting and providing that when the Chief 

Executive Officer of the State of Ohio or the Chief Executive Officer of the 

United States declares that a state of emergency exists, then in that event the 

member, if ordered to active duty for purposes of that emergency, shall be paid 

pursuant to this section for a period or periods, whether or not consecutive, not to 

exceed twenty-one (21) days in any one calendar year.  of up to one month, for 

each federal fiscal year in which they are performing services in the 

uniformed services. (Federal fiscal year is October 1 – September 30. 

“Month” for purposes of this article means 176 hours.)  A member shall be 

paid his regular salary for the period of time so served less whatever amount such 

member may receive as his military base pay.  Where it is to the advantage of the 

City and on the approval of the Chief of Police, military leave of up to fifteen (15) 

additional days may be granted.  



 59

B. Military Leave Without Pay.   

A member shall be granted a leave of absence without pay to serve in the Armed 

Forces of the United States of America or any branch thereof.  Members in a 

probationary period shall not be granted such leave.  Such leave of absence shall 

be governed by the following principles: 

(1) No eligible member shall lose his rank, grade, or seniority enjoyed 

at the time of his enlistment, induction, or call into the active 

services (other than for military training leave) of the Armed 

Forces of the United States of America or any branch thereof, 

except that a provisional member at the time of entering active 

military service shall not be entitled to restoration to his position if 

an eligible list from which appointments to such positions may be 

made has been established prior to his application for restoration to 

such position. 

(2) Any member who has entered the service as stated above, upon his 

Honorable Discharge or a Discharge with Honorable Conditions 

from the service and establishment of the fact that his physical and 

mental condition has not been impaired to the extent of rendering 

him incapable to perform the duties of the position, shall be 

returned to the position he held immediately prior to his enlistment 

or induction into the service or to a position of equal rank and 

grade.  Such member must request restoration to his position 

within ninety (90) days of receiving an Honorable Discharge or a 

Discharge with Honorable Conditions from the Armed Forces or 

his position will be declared vacant.  Nothing contained in this 



 60

section shall obligate the City to pay a member who is on military 

leave of absence. 

(3) Any member serving in a position vacated temporarily due to the 

previous incumbent being in the military service shall be 

determined to have been given a permanent appointment, if the 

returnee fails to exercise his restoration rights within the prescribed 

time. 

(4) The term "Armed Forces of the United States" as used in this 

section shall be deemed to include such services as designated by 

the Congress of the United States. 

(5) Any member transferred or advanced to a position by reason of 

vacancy caused by a member serving in the Armed Forces shall be 

returned to the position he held before said transfer or 

advancement, or to a position of equal rank or grade upon the 

return of the member from the service. 

(6) A member who achieves permanent status while filling a vacancy 

resulting from the enlistment or induction of a member into 

military service, upon the return of that member from the service, 

shall be placed on an eligible list in the order of his original 

position. 

(7) In any case where two or more members who are enlisted to be 

restored to a position left the same position in order to enter the 

Armed Forces, the member with the greatest seniority in that 

classification shall have the prior restoration right without 

prejudice to the reemployment rights of the other member or 

members to be restored. 



 61

(8) Where service in the Armed Forces results from induction or call 

to active duty, leave shall be granted for the duration of such call. 

 



 85

ARTICLE 35 
 

 
PHYSICAL FITNESS INCENTIVE 

 
SECTION 1:   
 
The Physical Fitness Incentive is a voluntary fitness program.  Successful participants will 
receive additional hours of vacation time as listed in the chart below for reaching certain 
levels of fitness.   
In order to promote fitness within the department, a set level of department participation 
will be required to earn an additional incentive.  Participation is defined as completing 
each of the segments of the test, based on the combined percentage of officers and 
supervisors.   In 2016, 40% of the membership must participate to qualify for the 
Participation Incentive, in 2017, 50% of the membership must participate, and in 2018, 
60% of the membership must participate with 30% of those taking the test achieving at 
least a basic fitness level.  Membership shall be determined based on staffing numbers as of 
January 1 of each year. 
Any hours awarded will be posted to the members’ accrued leave in the first full pay period 
of the following year.   
Fitness level Number of hours earned for 

achievement 
Number of hours earned w/ 
Participation Incentive met 

Basic 8 12 
Master 12 24 

 

 

Expiration: This article shall expire as of December 31, 2021 (2021 benefit to be credited in 

2022), with benefits being awarded according to the 2018 participation levels.  The parties 

will continue to negotiate a potential replacement program, which may be implemented 

prior to the end of the contract if both parties agree.   with the conclusion of this contract, 

unless renewed by both parties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 86

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ARTICLE 36 

 
DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

 
Section 1.  Duration.  All of the provisions of this Agreement become effective June 26, 2019 

unless otherwise specified.  This Agreement shall continue in force and effect until 11:59 p.m., 

June 25, 2022.  Either party shall give timely written or electronic notice in accordance with law 

of intent to modify or alter any or all of the provisions of this Agreement upon expiration of the 

Agreement. 

 
Section 2.   Signatures.   Signed and dated at Delaware, Ohio on this          day of 
 
                                              , 2019. 
 
For the City: For the Fraternal Order of Police 

Ohio Labor Council, Inc.: 
 
 
            
R. Thomas Homan    Paul Henry 
City Manager     FOP, O.L.C., Staff Representative 
 
 
            
Bruce Pijanowski    Derek Childs 
Chief of Police     Bargaining Committee Member 
 
 
            
Jessica Feller     Chris Cox 
Dept. of Admin. Services   Bargaining Committee Member 
  
  
          ______   
Darren Shulman                          John Laudeman   
City Attorney               Bargaining Committee Member 
                                                                       
      
       



 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF DELAWARE 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AND THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE,  
OHIO LABOR COUNCIL, INC. 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

ON BEHALF OF THE SUPERVISORS’ 
BARGAINING UNIT 

OF THE POLICE DEPARTMENT OF THE 
CITY OF DELAWARE 

 
 EFFECTIVE DATES 
 JUNE 26, 2019 - JUNE 25, 2022 



 7

ARTICLE 5 
 
 PROBATIONARY PERIOD 

SENIORITY 
 
The probationary period for all newly promoted employees will be a period of six (6) months 

from the date of promotion.  The City shall have the right to demote the employee during the six 

(6) month probationary period with no appeal rights through the grievance process. 

 Section 1.   

Seniority shall be defined as the length of total accumulated service with the Delaware 

Police Department as a sworn police officer.  Seniority in rank for supervisors shall be the 

date of promotion to each rank.  Work hours in appointed positions of Detective, School 

Resource Officer and Community Relations Officer are at the discretion of the Chief of 

Police.  Approved leaves of absence shall not be considered a break in service. 

 

Section 2. 

An employee’s seniority shall be terminated when one or more of the following occur: 

 a.  He/she resigns; 

 b.  He/she is discharged for just cause; 

 c.  He/she is laid off for a period exceeding the contract terms; 

 d.  He/she retires; 

 e.  He/she refused a recall or fails to report to work within five (5) working days  

 from the date the Employer sends the employee a recall notice by certified mail to 

 the employee’s last official address, as shown on the Employer’s records.  

 

Section 3:   

If two (2) or more employees are hired or appointed on the same date, their relative 

seniority shall be based on their position on the certified eligibility list from which they 

were hired. 



 8

 

Section 4:   

During the months of January and July of each year, the Employer shall post one (1) copy 

of the current seniority list for all employees within the bargaining unit and supply a copy 

to the F.O.P.  These lists shall be considered final and binding upon the Union and the 

employee, unless a notice of appeal is submitted through the Grievance Procedure within 

ten (10) days from the date of the posting of the seniority list.   

 

Section 5:   

The probationary period for all newly promoted employees will be a period of six (6) 

months from the date of promotion.  The City shall have the right to demote the employee 

during the six (6) month probationary period with no appeal rights through the grievance 

procedure. 

 

 



 28

ARTICLE 14 
 

WAGES 

Section 1.  Pay Ranges and Rates.  For the dates specified below, the new pay rates are 
effective for the pay period including the date.  The following pay rates, reflecting a 1.9 3% 
increase for 2017 2020, a 2 3% increase for 2018 2021, and a 2 3% increase for 2019 2022 will 
be paid members.  
 
Rank of Sergeant 
 

Step 1  Step 2  Step 3 

Eff. 
1/1/2020  $42.79  $44.40  $46.01 

$89,003.20  $92,352.00  $95,700.80 

Eff. 
1/1/2021  $44.07  $45.74  $47.39 

$91,665.60  $95,139.20  $98,571.20 

Eff. 
1/1/2022  $45.39  $47.11  $48.81 

$94,411.20  $97,988.80  $101,524.80 

 
 
Rank of Captain  
 

Step 1  Step 2  Step 3 

Eff. 
1/1/2020  $49.22  $51.07  $52.91 

$102,377.60  $106,225.60  $110,052.80 

Eff. 
1/1/2021  $50.70  $52.60  $54.50 

$105,456.00  $109,408.00  $113,360.00 

Eff. 
1/1/2022  $52.22  $54.18  $56.13 

$108,617.60  $112,694.40  $116,750.40 
 
Section 2.  Pension “Pick up” 

Effective on a date to be determined the City will no longer pick up (assume and pay) 
any portion of the employee contribution to the Police and Fire Pension Fund. 
 

Section 3.  Application of Hourly Rates 
 

The hourly rates as set forth under this section are based on a 40-hour workweek and 
shall be used to calculate salaries for hours actually worked or in paid status for the 
appropriate pay range and pay step. 
 

Section 4.   



 29

The wage differential for a Sergeant shall be at step 1, seven (7) percent above top patrol wage, 
at step 2, eleven percent above top patrol wage, and at step 3, fifteen (15) percent above the top 
patrol wage.  The wage differential between the captain’s wage and Sergeant’s wage shall be 
retained at fifteen (15) percent in each respective step. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 86

 
 
 

ARTICLE 36 
 

DURATION OF AGREEMENT 
 
Section 1.  Duration.  All of the provisions of this Agreement become effective June 26, 2019 

unless otherwise specified.  This Agreement shall continue in force and effect until 11:59 p.m., 

June 25, 2022.  Either party shall give timely written or electronic notice in accordance with law 

of intent to modify or alter any or all of the provisions of this Agreement upon expiration of the 

Agreement. 

 
Section 2.   Signatures.   Signed and dated at Delaware, Ohio on this          day of 
 
                                              , 2019. 
 
For the City: For the Fraternal Order of Police 

Ohio Labor Council, Inc.: 
 
 
            
R. Thomas Homan    Paul Henry 
City Manager     FOP, O.L.C., Staff Representative 
 
 
            
Bruce Pijanowski    Adam Willauer 
Police Department     Bargaining Committee Member 
 
 
            
Jessica Feller     Shawn Snead 
Dept. of Admin. Services   Bargaining Committee Member 
  
  
        
Darren Shulman                            
City Attorney                
                                                                       
      
       
 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  12    DATE: 08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-35 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION ADOPTING POLICY CONCERNING THE ESTABLISHMENT OF 
HONORARY STREET NAMES.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
UPDATE 08/22/2019:   
Per Council’s direction, the policy was updated to remove the time restriction for 
honorary street naming.   
 
08/12/2019: 
The naming of streets in honor of past individuals is a common practice in many 
communities, including Delaware.  In the past, the City has permitted the 
honorary naming of Henry Street as Branch Rickey Way and Euclid Avenue as 
Pacer Way.  Currently two new requests have been made of the City to name 
streets for both a past president of the United States, and a distinguished African 
America member of our community.   
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The City lacks a process by which the requests for honorary street naming can 
be publically considered, discussed, and approved.  The proposed policy provides 
general guidance as to how future requests for Honorary Street Naming shall be 
considered.  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 



The Public Works Committee considered the proposed Honorary Street Naming 
Policy on August 6th and unanimously agreed by motion to support the policy 
and forward it to full council for additional consideration.  The committee further 
recommended that all honorary signs be uniform in appearance and 
monochromatic in design as shown in the policy.   
        
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The City is able to produce the recommended honorary street name signs in 
house and at minimal cost.   
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
This is a new policy. 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Kyle Kridler, Assistant City Manager 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Honorary Street Naming Policy 



RESOLUTION NO. 19-35 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING POLICY CONCERNING THE 
ESTABLISHMENT OF HONORARY STREET NAMES. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City periodically receives requests to rename a street or 
portion thereof in honor of an individual; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the accomplishments and achievements of the individual are 
an inspiration to all Delawareans and worthy of a permanent memorial within 
the City; and  
 
 WHEREAS, there is good cause for this honorary designation and such 
designation will not be detrimental to the public interest; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to provide a process and guidance to which such 
honorary street naming can be further considered and approved by the City, a 
policy is hereby developed. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE, STATE OF OHIO: 
 
 SECTION 1.  The City shall adopt the proposed Honorary Street Naming 
Policy to provide guidance to future requests. 
  
 SECTION 2.  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after passage. 
 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 



 

Honorary Street Naming Policy (Rev. August 22, 2019) 

Definition: Honorary street names allow citizens the opportunity to honor people who have made 
significant contributions to the community and are intended to recognize and honor individuals or 
groups for a period of time without changing the official name of the street.   

Description: The honorary sign is of a similar size and shape as a standard street name sign. The 
honorary signs shall conform to the current federal street sign regulations governing lettering size, 
legend, and background colors as shown in examples.   Honorary street names shall include the 
suffix ‘Way”.  Only one honorary sign shall be allowed at an intersection and shall be posted 
adjacent to the designated street name sign.  

Qualifications for Honorary Recognition: This method of honoring individuals is reserved for those 
having local ties to the community, and whose body of lifetime achievement has received local, 
state or national notoriety for their individual contribution to the cultural arts, music, education, 
government leadership, athletics, or sciences.  Individual honorees will only be considered ten years 
or more posthumously. Individual family tribute or commercial and corporate related recognition 
does not qualify.  

Requests for Honorary Signs: Requests FOR NEW HONORARY SIGNS shall be made in writing to the 
City Manager’s Office describing the justification for the honorary designation, requested location(s) 
and timeframe for the sign is to be posted, and include details of requested text and graphic 
appearance.    

Approvals:  Each request for honorary street name shall be considered by City Council and approved 
by council resolution.  

Cost: Honorary street signs shall conform in appearance to the example shown and shall be 
provided and installed by the City at no cost.  Text shall be formatted to fit on a maximum 36-inch 
sign blank for purposes of safety and stability. 

Public vs Private Streets: This policy applies to all public streets in the City of Delaware. It does not 
attempt to regulate honorary street names on private streets and driveways.  

 

Example Honorary Street Sign Format:  

 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  13    DATE: 08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-46    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA 
AGREEMENT AND SCHOOL COMPENSATION AGREEMENT WITH THE 
KROGER CO., OLENTANGY CITY SCHOOLS AND DELAWARE AREA CAREER 
CENTER FOR INVESTMENT IN REAL PROPERTY IMPROVEMENTS ON THEIR 
BUILDING AND PARCEL AT 2000 NUTTER FARMS LANE, DELAWARE, OHIO 
AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The Kroger Co. has submitted application for a Community Reinvestment Area Tax 
Abatement for the construction of a 120,000 sq. ft. expansion to their existing 770,000 
sq. ft. building at parcel #41822001007000. 
 
This expansion is a significant investment in a new technology that will maintain the 
Delaware facility’s relevance and allow it to continue to grow to meet the future needs 
of distribution for the Kroger Co. 
  
Our success in assisting Kroger Co. would conservatively create 1 new FTE employee 
with a total annual payroll of $45,000 in addition to retaining their existing 663 FTEs 
with an existing $26,110,000 payroll. The 1 new FTE is what the company is able to 
commit to hiring, however, their contractual vendor for the equipment that will occupy 
the expansion will hire an additional 81 uncommitted FTEs with a payroll of $4,306,500. 
These positions cannot be committed to by The Kroger Co., but will be necessary to 
operate the high tech robotic logistics system. 
 



 
This project also has already been passed by the Olentangy Local Schools Board of 
Education on June 27, 2019. City staff are in continued negotiations for a contribution 
to the Point Project, a related infrastructure project that will allow for increased safety 
and efficiency for Kroger’s trucks as they approach US23 north. Staff is asking for this 
incentive package to go to two readings, so that we can finalize those conversations. 
 
Due to the timing of the project and their desire to begin construction on the building, 
we are seeking that this incentive is passed as an emergency after the second reading. 
 
 

 
 

Proposed Incentives:    

 
• 100%/15 year CRA with  
• 30% School Pilot Payments to Schools 

Project Annual Gross Value of 
100% Abatement $ 683,038.09 
Project 15-Year Gross Value of 
Abatement $10,245,571.35 
30% School Pilot Per Year $171,706.60  
30% School Pilot After 15 years $2,575,599.00  
Net Abatement Value $ 7,669,972.35 
Incentives as a % of Total Project 
Investment 5.47% 

 
Economic Development Incentive Policy Analysis: 
 
These cells will be colored GREEN if the criteria is met or RED if the criteria is not 
met: 
 

Project is for a target industry Yes Secondary – Distribution; However, this is BRE 
Project Hires at Greater than LMI* 
average wage 

Yes $45,000/year 

Project has a 25% or Greater ROI for 
City 

Yes 
 

City ROI 37.78% From NEW (1 in 3 years) and RETAINED (633) 



Project has a 30% or Greater ROI for 
School 

Yes   

School ROI 30% 
 

Value of Project Beyond the Analysis  The Kroger Great Lakes Distribution Center is one 
of our largest employers. This project will make 
this a state-of-art facility that will be the first of 
its kind. 

*LMI (Low to Moderate Income) = $41,000/year per single person household 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Tax Incentive Review Council, 5/29/19 
VOTE: Approval  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
COST: N/A 
FUND SOURCES: N/A 
BUDGETED: NO 
 
DEPARTMENTS IMPACTED: Economic Development 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
CRA School Notification Letters 
Incentives Application 
CRA Agreement 
School Compensation Agreement 
Map Exhibit of Building Location 



 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 19-46 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMMUNITY 
REINVESTMENT AREA AGREEMENT AND SCHOOL 
COMPENSATION AGREEMENT WITH THE KROGER 
CO., OLENTANGY CITY SCHOOLS AND DELAWARE 
AREA CAREER CENTER FOR INVESTMENT IN REAL 
PROPERTY IMPROVEMENTS ON THEIR BUILDING 
AND PARCEL AT 2000 NUTTER FARMS LANE, 
DELAWARE, OHIO AND DECLARING AN 
EMERGENCY. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware has encouraged development of and 
investment in real property in the area designated as Community Reinvestment 
Area 141-1135-1 pursuant to ORC 3735; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware by Resolution Number 01-52, resolved 
to review and approve all Community Reinvestment Area Agreements which 
meet the statutory guidelines; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware partners with impacted school districts 
to ensure mutual benefit from economic development projects; and 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF DELAWARE, 
DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO, that: 
 
 SECTION 1. The Community Reinvestment Area Agreement by and 
between the City of Delaware and The Kroger Co. meets all of the guidelines 
established by the State of Ohio and the City of Delaware, and the same is 
hereby approved. 
 
 SECTION 2.  The School Compensation Agreement by and between the 
City of Delaware, Olentangy Local School District, Delaware Area Career 
Center, and The Kroger Co. meets all of the school compensation guidelines 
established by the State of Ohio and the City of Delaware, and the same is 
hereby approved. 
 
 SECTION 3. That the City Council of the City of Delaware hereby 
authorizes the execution of said agreements by the City Manager to implement 
the Community Reinvestment Area Program and School Compensation 
Agreement for this project. 
 
 SECTION 4. This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 



 2 

formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 SECTION 5. EMERGENCY CLAUSE.  That this ordinance is hereby 
declared to be an emergency measure necessary to provide for the public 
peace, safety, health and welfare of the City, and is necessary to finalize 
negotiations so that construction may begin without the applicant risking the 
loss of the incentive, and as such will be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its passage. 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
VOTE ON EMERGENCY CLAUSE:  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
  



  

 
 

 
 
 
May 30, 2019 
  
Mary Beth Freeman 
Superintendent 
Delaware Area Career Center 
4565 Columbus Pike 
Delaware, OH 43015 
 
Mark Raiff 
Superintendent 
Olentangy Local School District 
7840 Graphics Way  
Lewis Center, OH 43035 
 
 
RE: The Kroger Co. Request for Community Reinvestment Area Request Tax Incentives 
 
Dear Superintendents Raiff and Freeman: 
 
In an attempt to retain and grow The Kroger Co.’s Great Lakes Distribution Center in the City of 
Delaware, the City of Delaware’s Tax Incentive Negotiation Committee, that includes the 
superintendents and treasurers from the impacted school districts, negotiated a 100% for 15 year CRA 
tax abatement for their 120,000 sq. ft. expansion project to be located at their existing facility on parcel 
#41822001007000 (2000 Nutter Farms Lane). As part of their CRA abatement, The Kroger Co. has agreed 
to an annual payment equal to 30% of what the school districts normally would have received without 
the abatement. The amount of these payments will be based on the value of actual taxes after the 
County Auditor assigns a market improvement value. 
 
All incentives are based on The Kroger Co.’s commitments of the creation of 1 new full-time job with a 
payroll minimum of $45,000 within 3 years of the completion of your project, and the retention of their 
existing 663 full-time jobs with a minimum payroll of $26,110,000 in the City of Delaware. A copy of 
their application for tax incentives is attached.  
 
CRA (ORC 3735.65-70) guidelines require that Boards of Education be informed of amendments, notice 
requirements, review rights, meeting requests, revenue sharing requirements, and/or program 
participation. Since the CRA legislation and company agreements contain many legal requirements, you 
may want to review Ohio Revised Code references (please see: 
http://onlinedocs.andersonpublishing.com/). 
  
 



 

 
 
The City of Delaware is requesting a waiver of the required 45 business day notice period so that 
Delaware City Council will be able to consider these requests at our regularly scheduled Council meeting 
on July 8, 2018, held at Delaware City Hall, 1 South Sandusky Street, Delaware, at 7:00 P.M.  A second 
reading and public hearing should be scheduled for March 26, 2018, but may not be needed if Council 
chooses to take action on the first reading for economic development purposes. School Board Members, 
staff and the public are welcome to attend these meetings.  In lieu of the 45 business day notice period, 
the City’s Economic Development Staff is prepared to discuss the request with the Olentangy Local 
School Board at their regularly scheduled meeting on June 13. Please let me know if you require any 
further assistance. I can be reached at 740.203.1016 or shughes@delawareohio.net. Please email me 
with confirmation of receipt of this notification so that I can send it with our petition to the Ohio 
Development Services Agency. 
 
Yours Sincerely, 
Sean Hughes 
Economic Development Director 
 
xc: Honorable George Kaitsa, Auditor 

R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
Dean Stelzer Finance Director 
Emily Hatfield, Treasurer, Olentangy Local School District 
Chris Bell, Treasurer, Delaware Area Career Center 

  
Attached: 
1. ORC 3735.671 
2. Kroger Co. application for tax incentives 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:shughes@delawareohio.net


 

 

3735.671 Written agreement where commercial or industrial property is to be exempted. 

(A) If construction or remodeling of commercial or industrial property is to be exempted from taxation 
pursuant to section 3735.67 of the Revised Code, the legislative authority and the owner of the property, 
prior to the commencement of construction or remodeling, shall enter into a written agreement, binding 
on both parties for a period of time that does not end prior to the end of the period of the exemption, 
that includes all of the information and statements prescribed by this section. Agreements may include 
terms not prescribed by this section, but such terms shall in no way derogate from the information and 
statements prescribed by this section. 

(1) Except as otherwise provided in division (A)(2) or (3) of this section, an agreement entered into under 
this section shall not be approved by the legislative authority unless the board of education of the city, 
local, or exempted village school district within the territory of which the property is or will be located 
approves the agreement. For the purpose of obtaining such approval, the legislative authority shall certify 
a copy of the agreement to the board of education not later than forty-five days prior to approving the 
agreement, excluding Saturday, Sunday, and a legal holiday as defined in section 1.14 of the Revised Code. 
The board of education, by resolution adopted by a majority of the board, shall approve or disapprove 
the agreement and certify a copy of the resolution to the legislative authority not later than fourteen days 
prior to the date stipulated by the legislative authority as the date upon which approval of the agreement 
is to be formally considered by the legislative authority. The board of education may include in the 
resolution conditions under which the board would approve the agreement. The legislative authority may 
approve an agreement at any time after the board of education certifies its resolution approving the 
agreement to the legislative authority, or, if the board approves the agreement conditionally, at any time 
after the conditions are agreed to by the board and the legislative authority. 

(2) Approval of an agreement by the board of education is not required under division (A)(1) of this section 
if, for each tax year the real property is exempted from taxation, the sum of the following quantities, as 
estimated at or prior to the time the agreement is formally approved by the legislative authority, equals 
or exceeds fifty per cent of the amount of taxes, as estimated at or prior to that time, that would have 
been charged and payable that year upon the real property had that property not been exempted from 
taxation: 

(a) The amount of taxes charged and payable on any portion of the assessed valuation of the new 
structure or remodeling that will not be exempted from taxation under the agreement; 

(b) The amount of taxes charged and payable on tangible personal property located on the premises of 
the new structure or of the structure to be remodeled under the agreement, whether payable by the 
owner of the structure or by a related member, as defined in section 5733.042 of the Revised Code 
without regard to division (B) of that section. 

(c) The amount of any cash payment by the owner of the new structure or structure to be remodeled to 
the school district, the dollar value, as mutually agreed to by the owner and the board of education, of 
any property or services provided by the owner of the property to the school district, whether by gift, 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/3735.67
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/gp1.14
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5733.042


 

loan, or otherwise, and any payment by the legislative authority to the school district pursuant to 
section 5709.82 of the Revised Code. 

The estimates of quantities used for purposes of division (A)(2) of this section shall be estimated by the 
legislative authority. The legislative authority shall certify to the board of education that the estimates 
have been made in good faith. Departures of the actual quantities from the estimates subsequent to 
approval of the agreement by the board of education do not invalidate the agreement. 

(3) If a board of education has adopted a resolution waiving its right to approve agreements and the 
resolution remains in effect, approval of an agreement by the board is not required under this division. If 
a board of education has adopted a resolution allowing a legislative authority to deliver the notice 
required under this division fewer than forty-five business days prior to the legislative authority's 
execution of the agreement, the legislative authority shall deliver the notice to the board not later than 
the number of days prior to such execution as prescribed by the board in its resolution. If a board of 
education adopts a resolution waiving its right to approve agreements or shortening the notification 
period, the board shall certify a copy of the resolution to the legislative authority. If the board of education 
rescinds such a resolution, it shall certify notice of the rescission to the legislative authority. 

(B) Each agreement shall include the following information: 

(1) The names of all parties to the agreement; 

(2) A description of the remodeling or construction, whether or not to be exempted from taxation, 
including existing or new structure size and cost thereof; the value of machinery, equipment, furniture, 
and fixtures, including an itemization of the value of machinery, equipment, furniture, and fixtures used 
at another location in this state prior to the agreement and relocated or to be relocated from that location 
to the property, and the value of machinery, equipment, furniture, and fixtures at the facility prior to the 
execution of the agreement; the value of inventory at the property, including an itemization of the value 
of inventory held at another location in this state prior to the agreement and relocated or to be relocated 
from that location to the property, and the value of inventory held at the property prior to the execution 
of the agreement; 

(3) The scheduled starting and completion dates of remodeling or construction of real property or of 
investments made in machinery, equipment, furniture, fixtures, and inventory; 

(4) Estimates of the number of employee positions to be created each year of the agreement and of the 
number of employee positions retained by the owner due to the remodeling or construction, itemized as 
to the number of full-time, part-time, permanent, and temporary positions; 

(5) Estimates of the dollar amount of payroll attributable to the positions set forth in division (B)(4) of this 
section, similarly itemized; 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.82


 

 

(6) The number of employee positions, if any, at the property and at any other location in this state at the 
time the agreement is executed, itemized as to the number of full-time, part-time, permanent, and 
temporary positions. 

(C) Each agreement shall set forth the following information and incorporate the following statements: 

(1) A description of real property to be exempted from taxation under the agreement, the percentage of 
the assessed valuation of the real property exempted from taxation, and the period for which the 
exemption is granted, accompanied by the statement: "The exemption commences the first year for which 
the real property would first be taxable were that property not exempted from taxation. No exemption 
shall commence after .......... (insert date) nor extend beyond .......... (insert date)." 

(2) ".......... (insert name of owner) shall pay such real property taxes as are not exempted under this 
agreement and are charged against such property and shall file all tax reports and returns as required by 
law. If .......... (insert name of owner) fails to pay such taxes or file such returns and reports, exemptions 
from taxation granted under this agreement are rescinded beginning with the year for which such taxes 
are charged or such reports or returns are required to be filed and thereafter." 

(3) ".......... (insert name of owner) hereby certifies that at the time this agreement is executed, .......... 
(insert name of owner) does not owe any delinquent real or tangible personal property taxes to any taxing 
authority of the State of Ohio, and does not owe delinquent taxes for which .......... (insert name of owner) 
is liable under Chapter 5733., 5735., 5739., 5741., 5743., 5747., or 5753. of the Ohio Revised Code, or, if 
such delinquent taxes are owed, .......... (insert name of owner) currently is paying the delinquent taxes 
pursuant to an undertaking enforceable by the State of Ohio or an agent or instrumentality thereof, has 
filed a petition in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C.A. 101 , et seq., or such a petition has been filed against 
.......... (insert name of owner). For the purposes of this certification, delinquent taxes are taxes that 
remain unpaid on the latest day prescribed for payment without penalty under the chapter of the Revised 
Code governing payment of those taxes." 

(4) ".......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) shall perform such acts as are reasonably 
necessary or appropriate to effect, claim, reserve, and maintain exemptions from taxation granted under 
this agreement including, without limitation, joining in the execution of all documentation and providing 
any necessary certificates required in connection with such exemptions." 

(5) "If for any reason .......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) revokes the designation of 
the area, entitlements granted under this agreement shall continue for the number of years specified 
under this agreement, unless .......... (insert name of owner) materially fails to fulfill its obligations under 
this agreement and ................... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) terminates or modifies 
the exemptions from taxation pursuant to this agreement." 

(6) "If .......... (insert name of owner) materially fails to fulfill its obligations under this agreement, or if 
.......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) determines that the certification as to delinquent 
taxes required by this agreement is fraudulent, .......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) 
may terminate or modify the exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement." 



 

(7) ".......... (insert name of owner) shall provide to the proper tax incentive review council any information 
reasonably required by the council to evaluate the applicant's compliance with the agreement, including 
returns filed pursuant to section 5711.02 of the Ohio Revised Code if requested by the council." 

(8) "This agreement is not transferable or assignable without the express, written approval of .......... 
(insert name of municipal corporation or county)." 

(9) "Exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement shall be revoked if it is determined that 
........... (insert name of owner), any successor to that person, or any related member (as those terms are 
defined in division (E) of section 3735.671 of the Ohio Revised Code) has violated the prohibition against 
entering into this agreement under division (E) of section 3735.671 or section 5709.62 or 5709.63 of the 
Ohio Revised Code prior to the time prescribed by that division or either of those sections." 

(10) ".......... (insert name of owner) and ........... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) 
acknowledge that this agreement must be approved by formal action of the legislative authority of .......... 
(insert name of municipal corporation or county) as a condition for the agreement to take effect. This 
agreement takes effect upon such approval." 

The statement described in division (C)(6) of this section may include the following statement, appended 
at the end of the statement: ", and may require the repayment of the amount of taxes that would have 
been payable had the property not been exempted from taxation under this agreement." If the agreement 
includes a statement requiring repayment of exempted taxes, it also may authorize the legislative 
authority to secure repayment of such taxes by a lien on the exempted property in the amount required 
to be repaid. Such a lien shall attach, and may be perfected, collected, and enforced, in the same manner 
as a mortgage lien on real property, and shall otherwise have the same force and effect as a mortgage 
lien on real property. 

(D) Except as otherwise provided in this division, an agreement entered into under this section shall 
require that the owner pay an annual fee equal to the greater of one per cent of the amount of taxes 
exempted under the agreement or five hundred dollars; provided, however, that if the value of the 
incentives exceeds two hundred fifty thousand dollars, the fee shall not exceed two thousand five 
hundred dollars. The fee shall be payable to the legislative authority once per year for each year the 
agreement is effective on the days and in the form specified in the agreement. Fees paid shall be deposited 
in a special fund created for such purpose by the legislative authority and shall be used by the legislative 
authority exclusively for the purpose of complying with section 3735.672 of the Revised Code and by the 
tax incentive review council created under section 5709.85 of the Revised Code exclusively for the 
purposes of performing the duties prescribed under that section. The legislative authority may waive or 
reduce the amount of the fee, but such waiver or reduction does not affect the obligations of the 
legislative authority or the tax incentive review council to comply with section3735.672 or 5709.85 of the 
Revised Code. 

(E) If any person that is party to an agreement granting an exemption from taxation discontinues 
operations at the structure to which that exemption applies prior to the expiration of the term of the 
agreement, that person, any successor to that person, and any related member shall not enter into an 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5711.02
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.62
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.63
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/3735.672
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.85
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/3735.672
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.85


 

 

agreement under this section or section 5709.62 , 5709.63 , or 5709.632 of the Revised Code, and no 
legislative authority shall enter into such an agreement with such a person, successor, or related member, 
prior to the expiration of five years after the discontinuation of operations. As used in this division, 
"successor" means a person to which the assets or equity of another person has been transferred, which 
transfer resulted in the full or partial nonrecognition of gain or loss, or resulted in a carryover basis, both 
as determined by rule adopted by the tax commissioner. "Related member" has the same meaning as 
defined in section 5733.042 of the Revised Code without regard to division (B) of that section. 

The director of development shall review all agreements submitted to the director under division (F) of 
this section for the purpose of enforcing this division. If the director determines there has been a violation 
of this division, the director shall notify the legislative authority of such violation, and the legislative 
authority immediately shall revoke the exemption granted under the agreement. 

(F) When an agreement is entered into under this section, the legislative authority authorizing the 
agreement shall forward a copy of the agreement to the director of development within fifteen days after 
the agreement is entered into. 

Effective Date: 09-26-2003; 03-23-2005 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.62
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.63
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.632
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5733.042


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 











 

 
 

COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA AGREEMENT 
CITY OF DELAWARE and THE KROGER CO. 

 
This agreement made and entered into by and between the City of Delaware, 
Ohio, a municipal government, with its main offices located at 1 South Sandusky 
Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015 and The Kroger Co., 1014 Vine St. 
Cincinnati, OH 45202, , WITNESSETH; 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware has encouraged the development of real 
property and the acquisition of personal property located in the area  designated 
as Community Reinvestment Area 141-1135-01; and 

 
WHEREAS, The Kroger Co. desires to build a new 120,000 sq. ft. expansion on 
its currently owned facility at 2000 Nutter Lane, Delaware, OH 43015, Parcel 
#41822001007000 . This PROJECT will take place within the boundaries of the 
aforementioned Community Reinvestment Area provided that the appropriate 
development incentives are available to support the economic viability of said 
PROJECT; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Delaware, Ohio, by Resolution No. 01-52 
adopted July 23, 2001, designated the area as a “Community Reinvestment 
Area” pursuant to Chapter 3735 of the Ohio Revised Code; and 

 
WHEREAS, effective September 4, 2001, the Director of the Development 
Services Agency of the State of Ohio determined that the aforementioned area 
designated in said Resolution No. 01-52 contains the characteristics set forth in 
Section 3735.66 of the Ohio Revised Code and confirmed said area as 
Community Reinvestment Area #141-1135-01 under said Chapter 3735; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware, having the appropriate authority for the stated 
type of project desires to provide The Kroger Co. with incentives available for 
the development of the PROJECT in said Community Reinvestment Area under 
Chapter 3735 of the Ohio Revised Code; and 

 
WHEREAS, The Kroger Co. has submitted an incentive application (herein 
attached as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference) to the City of 
Delaware (hereinafter referred to as "APPLICATION"); and 

 
WHEREAS, The Kroger Co. has remitted the required state application fee of 
$750.00 made payable to the Ohio Department of Development with the 
APPLICATION to be forwarded to said department with a copy of the final 
agreement; and 



2 

 

 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Tax Incentive Negotiating Committee of the City of Delaware has 
investigated the APPLICATION of The Kroger Co., and has recommended the 
same to the Council of the City of Delaware on the basis that The Kroger Co. is 
qualified by financial responsibility and business experience to create and 
preserve employment opportunities in said Community Reinvestment Area and 
improve the economic climate of the City of Delaware; and 

 
WHEREAS, the project site as proposed by The Kroger Co. is located in the 
Olentangy Local School District and the Delaware Area Career Center (per the 
attached resolutions authorizing the superintendents to act on behalf of the 
board) has been notified in accordance with Section 5709.83 and been given a 
copy of the APPLICATION; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3735.67(A) and in conformance with the format 
required under Section 3735.671(B) of the Ohio Revised Code, the parties hereto 
desire to set forth their agreement with respect to matters hereinafter contained; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter 
contained and the benefit to be derived by the parties from the execution hereof, 
the parties herein agree as follows: 

 
1. The Kroger Co. shall construct a new 120,000 sq. ft. building onto the 

existing facility at 2000 Nutter Lane in addition to making improvements 
to the existing facility. 
 
The PROJECT will begin August 1, 2019 and all construction will be completed 
by December 31, 2020. Any changes to the beginning and completion dates  
must be agreed to by formal resolution and an amended agreement. 
 

2. The Kroger Co. shall create the equivalent of 1 new full-time 
equivalent (FTE) jobs at the Delaware facility. The job creation period 
begins January 1, 2021 and all jobs will be in place by December 31, 
2023 (3 years or 36 months after the completion of the PROJECT per 
ORC 3735). 

 
This increase in the number of new employees shall result in at least 
FORTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($45,000) in total new annual payroll 
($45,000 NEW FULL TIME PERMANENT PAYROLL) generated at the 
PROJECT site. 

 
As part of the expansion, The Kroger Co. also has committed to retaining 
their current 663 FTEs. Therefore, as part of this project, The Kroger Co. 
shall retain the 663 full-time equivalent (FTE) employees at The Kroger 
Co.’s Delaware facility until the expiration of this CRA agreement, 



3 

 

 

December 31, 2035, with a minimum existing payroll of $26,110,000 in 
addition to the newly created $45,000 payroll from the new FTEs (for a total 
of $26,155,000 in payroll).  
 

3. Based on new job and payroll creation levels, the City of Delaware 
estimates an annual new employee income tax revenue amount of $832.50 
($45,000 payroll times the current income tax rate of 1.85%) for the 
PROJECT. If in any year after the first three year grace period of this 
Agreement the level of new payroll does not reach or falls below levels 
established by this Agreement, The Kroger Co. agrees to reimburse the 
City of Delaware for lost employee income taxes up to the full amount of 
$832.50. Should the City’s income tax rates change, the reimbursement 
will be adjusted accordingly. 
 

4. To the extent that The Kroger Co. substantially complies with the terms of this 
section 2 of this agreement, the company shall incur no income tax 
reimbursement penalty. 

 
5. The Kroger Co. shall provide to the proper Tax Incentive Review Council 

any information reasonably required by the council to evaluate the 
enterprise's compliance with the agreement, including returns filed 
pursuant to section 5711.02 and 5727.08 of the Ohio Revised Code if 
requested by the council (ORC3735.671C7). 

 
6. ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS: 

 
The Kroger Co. shall make payments to the Olentangy Local Schools 
and Delaware Area Career Center in an amount equal to thirty percent 
(30%) of the real property taxes that would have been payable upon the 
increase in assessed value to the property resulting from the PROJECT 
but for the CRA Exemption benefit the districts’ educational initiatives. 
These payments shall be subject to the terms and conditions of a separate 
School Compensation Agreement between The Kroger Co., Olentangy 
Local Schools, Delaware Area Career Center and the City of Delaware. Per 
this agreement, The Kroger Co. will make these payments directly to the 
school districts upon receipt of invoices from Olentangy Local Schools and 
Delaware Area Career Center for the amounts and at the times 
established in the School Compensation Agreement. 
If Ohio tax law changes result in no net tax incentive benefits (tax 
incentives offered through this agreement minus the school 
compensation payment is negative), The Kroger Co. may request that 
the City of Delaware Tax Incentive Review Council modify or 
terminate this agreement. 

 
7. City of Delaware hereby grants The Kroger Co. a tax exemption for real 

property improvements made to the PROJECT site pursuant to Section 



4 

 

 

3735.67 of the Ohio Revised Code, which tax exemption shall be for fifteen 
(15) years in the following amounts: 

 
Year of Tax Exemption Tax Exemption Amount 

Year 1 100% 
Year 2 100% 
Year 3 100% 
Year 4 100% 
Year 5 100% 
Year 6 100% 
Year 7 100% 
Year 8 100% 
Year 9 100% 
Year 10 100% 
Year 11 100% 
Year 12 100% 
Year 13 100% 
Year 14 100% 
Year 15 100% 



5 

 

 

 
 

The exemption commences the first full taxable year the facility is 100% 
complete. No exemption shall commence before January 1, 2021, nor extend 
beyond December 31, 2035. Said exemption shall be based on the increase on 
the assessed value of real property attributed to the real property improvements 
at the PROJECT site. The Kroger Co. must file the appropriate tax forms (DTE 
23) with the County Auditor to effect and maintain the exemptions covered in 
the agreement. 

 
8. The Kroger Co. shall pay an annual fee equal to the greater of one percent 

of the dollar value of incentives offered under the agreement or five 
hundred dollars; provided, however, that if the value of the incentives 
exceeds two hundred fifty thousand dollars, the fee shall not exceed two 
thousand five hundred dollars. 

 
The fee shall be made payable to the City of Delaware once per year for 
each year the agreement is effective by December 31. This fee shall be 
deposited in  a special fund created for such purpose and shall be used 
exclusively for the purpose of complying with Section 5709.68 of the Ohio 
Revised Code and by the Tax Incentive Review Council created under 
Section 5709.85 of the Ohio Revised Code exclusively for the purposes of 
performing the duties prescribed under that section. 

 
9.    Waiver Requirement (for jobs relocated within Ohio) 

If the Director of Development has issued a waiver under Section 5709.633 
of the Ohio Revised Code as a condition for the agreement to be executed, 
the following applies: 

 
Continuation of this agreement is subject to the validity of the 
circumstances upon which The Kroger Co. applied for, and the Director of 
the Ohio Department of Development issued, the waiver pursuant to Section 
5709.633 of the Ohio Revised Code. If, after formal approval of this 
agreement by the  City of Delaware, the Director or the City of Delaware 
discovers that such a circumstance did not exist, The Kroger Co. shall be 
deemed to have materially failed to comply with this agreement. The formal 
waiver document shall be incorporated as an exhibit to this agreement and 
specifies conditions enumerated in Section 5709.633 of the Ohio Revised 
Code upon which the waiver was issued. 

 
10. The Kroger Co. shall pay such real and tangible personal property taxes 

as are not exempted under this agreement and are charged against such 
property and shall file all tax reports and returns as required by law. If, 
after thirty days notice to The Kroger Co. that it has failed to pay such 
taxes or file such returns and reports, The Kroger Co. fails to remedy 
such failure, then all incentives granted under this agreement are 



6 

 

 

rescinded



7 

 

 

beginning with the year for which such taxes are charged or such reports or  
returns are required to be filed and thereafter (ORC3735.671C2). 
 

11. City of Delaware shall perform such acts as are reasonably necessary or 
appropriate to effect, claim, reserve, and maintain exemptions from 
taxation granted under this agreement including, without limitation, 
joining in the execution of all documentation and providing any necessary 
certificates required in connection with such exemptions 
(ORC3735.671C4). 

 
12. If for any reason the Community Reinvestment Area designation expires, 

the Director of the Ohio Development Services Agency revokes certification 
of the area, or the City of Delaware revokes the designation of the area, 
entitlements granted under this agreement shall continue for the number 
of years specified under this agreement, unless The Kroger Co. materially 
fails to fulfill their obligations under this agreement and the City of 
Delaware terminates or modifies the exemptions from taxation granted 
under this agreement (ORC3735.671C5). 

 
13. If The Kroger Co. materially fails to fulfill their obligations under this 

agreement, or if the City of Delaware determines that the certification as 
to delinquent taxes required by this agreement is fraudulent, the City of 
Delaware may terminate or modify the exemptions from taxation granted 
under this agreement and may require the repayment of the amount of 
taxes that would have been payable had the property not been exempted 
from taxation under this agreement. 

 
14. (a) The Kroger Co. hereby certifies that at the time this agreement is 

executed, The Kroger Co. does not owe any delinquent real or tangible 
personal property taxes to any taxing authority of the State of Ohio, and 
does not owe delinquent taxes for which The Kroger Co. is liable under 
Chapter 5733., 5735., 5739., 5741., 5743., 5747., or 5753. of the Ohio 
Revised Code, or, if such delinquent taxes are owed, The Kroger Co. 
currently is paying the delinquent taxes pursuant to an undertaking 
enforceable by the State of Ohio or an agent or instrumentality thereof, 
has filed a petition in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C.A. 101, et seq., or such 
a petition has been filed against The Kroger Co. for the purposes of the 
certification, delinquent taxes are taxes that remain unpaid on the latest 
day prescribed for payment without penalty under the chapter of the Ohio 
Revised Code governing payment of those taxes. 

 

15. (a) The Kroger Co. affirmatively covenants that it does not owe: (1) any 
delinquent taxes to the State of Ohio or a political subdivision of 



8 

 

 

 
 

the State; (2) any moneys to the State or a state agency for the administration or 
enforcement of any environmental laws of the State; and (3) any other moneys to 
the State, a state agency or a political subdivision of the State that are past due, 
whether the amounts owed are being contested in a court of law or not. 

 
(b) The Kroger Co. affirmatively covenants that it does not owe: (1) any 

delinquent taxes to the State of Ohio or a political subdivision of the State; (2) 
any moneys to the State or a state agency for the administration or enforcement 
of any environmental laws of the State; and (3) any other moneys to the State, a 
state agency or a political subdivision of the State that are past due, whether the 
amounts owed are being contested in a court of law or not. 

 
16. The Kroger Co. and the City of Delaware acknowledge that this agreement 

must be approved by formal action of the legislative authority of the City 
of Delaware and approval and execution of this agreement by The Kroger 
Co. as a condition for the agreement to take effect (ORC3735.671C10). 

 
17. The City of Delaware has developed a policy to ensure recipients of a 

Community Reinvestment Area tax benefits practice non-discriminating 
hiring in its operations. By executing this agreement, The Kroger Co. is 
committing to following non-discriminating hiring practices 
acknowledging that no individual may be denied employment solely on the 
basis of race, religion, sex, disability, color, national origin, or ancestry. 

 
18. Exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement shall be revoked 

if it is determined that The Kroger Co. any successor property owner, or 
any related member (as those terms are defined in Division (E) of Section 
3735.671 of the Ohio Revised Code) has violated the prohibition against 
entering into this agreement under Division (E) of Section 3735.671 or 
Section 5709.62 or 5709.63 of the Ohio Revised Code prior to the time 
prescribed by that division or either of those sections (ORC3735.671C9). 

 
19. In any three-year period after the first three years of the agreement during 

which this agreement is in effect, if the actual number of full-time 
equivalent employees created or retained by The Kroger Co., averaged 
over the three year period in question, is not equal to or greater than 
598 full-time equivalent (FTE) employees (such number being 90% of the 
664 full-time equivalent positions to be created or retained under this 
Agreement), The Kroger Co. shall repay the amount of taxes on property 
that would have been payable had the property not been exempted from 
taxation under this agreement during that 



9 

 

 

 
 

three-year period. In addition, the City of Delaware may terminate or 
modify the exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement. 

 
 

20. The Kroger Co. affirmatively covenants that they have made no false 
statements to the State or local political subdivision in the process of 
obtaining approval for the Community Reinvestment Area incentives. If 
any representative of The Kroger Co. has knowingly made a false 
statement to the State or local political subdivision to obtain the 
Community Reinvestment Area incentives, The Kroger Co. shall be 
required to immediately return all benefits received under the Community 
Reinvestment Area Agreement pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 9.66 
(C)(2) and shall be ineligible for any future economic development 
assistance from the State, any state agency or a political subdivision 
pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 9.66(C)(1). Any person who 
provides a false statement to secure economic development assistance may 
be guilty of falsification, a misdemeanor of the first degree, pursuant to 
Ohio Revised Code 2921.13(A)(4), which is punishable by a fine of not more 
than $1,000 and/or a term of imprisonment of not more than six months. 

 
21. Other than a transfer or an assignment to an affiliate of The Kroger Co., 

this agreement is not transferable or assignable without the express, 
written approval of the City of Delaware. 

 
22. The Kroger Co. acknowledges that if any person that is party to an 

agreement granting an exemption from taxation discontinues operations 
at the structure to which that exemption applies prior to the expiration of 
the term of the agreement, that person, any successor to that person, and 
any related member shall not enter into an agreement under Section 
3735.671 or sections or sections 5709.62, 5709.63, or 5709.632 of the 
Ohio Revised Code, and no legislative authority shall enter into such an 
agreement with such a person, successor, or related member, prior to the 
expiration of five years after the discontinuation of operations. As used in 
this division, ‘successor’ means a person to which the assets or equity of 
another person has been transferred, which transfer resulted in the full or 
partial non-recognition of gain or loss, or resulted in a carryover basis, 
both as determined by rule adopted by the tax commissioner. ‘Related 
member’ has the same meaning as defined in section 5733.042 of the Ohio 
Revised Code without regard to Division (B) of that section 
(ORC3735.671E). 

 
23. The Kroger Co. hereby represents that they have full authority to act, 

negotiate, and execute this agreement. 



1
 

 

 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Delaware, Ohio, by R. Thomas Homan, its 
City Manager, and pursuant to Resolution    -    adopted on  , 
has caused this instrument to be executed this day of     
2018, and The Kroger Co. has caused this instrument to be executed on this
 day of 2018. 

 
CITY OF DELAWARE 

 

By:    
R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

 

The Kroger Co. 
 

By:   
_________________(Name) 
________________ (Title) 

 
 
 

Approved as to form: 
 

By:  Darren Shulman, Delaware City 
Attorney 











0 1,200 2,400600
ft

Delaware County Auditor
George Kaitsa

Information contained within this map may be used to generally locate, identify and inventory land parcels within Delaware County. 
Delaware County cannot warrant or guarantee the information contained herein, including, but not limited to its accuracy 

or  completeness. The map parcel l ines shown are approximate and this information cannot be constructed or used as a "legal description" of a parcel.
Flood Plain information is obtained from FEMA and is administered by the Delaware County Building Department (740-833-2201).

Please report any errors or omissions to the Delaware County Auditor's office at delcogis@co.delaware.oh.us.
Prepared by: Delaware County Auditor's GIS Office

/
Exhibit - Kroger DC, Parcel 4182200100

Printed o n 7/11/2019



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  14    DATE: 08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-47    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING:  YES 
       August 26, 2019 at 7:30 p.m.  
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REZONING AMENDMENT FOR J. JILL 
PROPERTIES LLC., FOR THE RICE BUILDING FROM B-3 (COMMUNITY 
BUSINESS DISTRICT)  TO B-2 (CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT) AT 50 WEST 
WILLIAM STREET ON APPROXIMATELY 0.119 ACRES.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1130 Amendments of the Codified 
Ordinances. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0 on August 7, 
2019.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
 POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-47 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REZONING 
AMENDMENT FOR J.JILL PROPERTIES LLC., FOR THE 
RICE BUILDING FROM B-3 (COMMUNITY BUSINESS 
DISTRICT)  TO B-2 (CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT) AT 
50 WEST WILLIAM STREET ON APPROXIMATELY 0.119 
ACRES. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of August 7, 2019 
recommended approval of a Rezoning Amendment for J. Jill Properties LLC., for 
the Rice Building from B-3 (Community Business District) to B-2 (Central 
Business District) at 50 West William Street on approximately 0.119 acres (PC 
Case 2019-1727).  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Rezoning Amendment for J. Jill Properties LLC., for 
the Rice Building from B-3 (Community Business District) to B-2 (Central 
Business District) at 50 West William Street on approximately 0.119 acres, is 
hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following condition that: 
 
1. Any change of use and/or new structure(s) shall require achieve compliance 

with B-2 zoning requirements. 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  15    DATE: 8/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-48    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR J.JILL PROPERTIES LLC., FOR THE RICE 
BUILDING  AT 50 WEST WILLIAM STREET ON APPROXIMATELY 0.119 ACRES 
AND ZONED B-2 (CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129.05 Final Development Plan   
requirements of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0 on August 7, 
2019.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
 POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-48 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMBINED 
PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
J.JILL PROPERTIES LLC., FOR THE RICE BUILDING  AT 
50 WEST WILLIAM STREET ON APPROXIMATELY 0.119 
ACRES AND ZONED B-2 (CENTRAL BUSINESS 
DISTRICT).  
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of August 7, 2019 
recommended approval of a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan  
for J. Jill Properties LLC., for the Rice Building at 50 West William Street on 
approximately 0.119 acres and zoned B-2 (Central Business District (PC Case 
2019-1728).  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan  
for J. Jill Properties LLC., for the Rice Building at 50 West William Street on 
approximately 0.119 acres and zoned B-2 (Central Business District), is hereby 
confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following conditions that: 
 

1. A formal set of engineering drawings shall not be required but the 
development shall meet the minimum storm water quality design 
requirements per the City Engineer approval. 

2. The number of on-site parking spaces along North Franklin Street shall 
not exceed nine spaces. 

3. Per the City Arborist, the two existing trees shall not be replaced because 
they are dead, damaged or disease per Chapter 1168 Tree Preservation 
Regulations.  

4. Street tree(s) shall be required along West William Street per the zoning 
code requirements. 

5. The signage shall achieve compliance with the Historic District Overlay 
requirements and the minimum zoning code requirements. 

6. The site lighting shall achieve compliance with the minimum zoning code 
requirements and shall be approved by the Chief Building Official. 

7. The sidewalks on West William Street and North Franklin Street shall 
achieve compliance with City Engineering requirements. 

 
 
 



SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 

































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  16    DATE: 08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-49    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING:  YES 
       August 26, 2019 @ 7:40 p.m.  
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REZONING AMENDMENT FOR MAKAPA LLC., 
FOR BELLE COMMONS BUSINESS PARK FROM R-3 (ONE-RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICT) TO R-3 PMU (ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A 
PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) ON APPROXIMATELY 11.128 
ACRES (PARCELS 419-122-01-027-000 & 419-122-01-029-000) AND 
LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF BELLE AVENUE AND ON THE EAST SIDE 
OF LIBERTY ROAD.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1130 Amendments of the Codified 
Ordinances. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0 on August 7, 
2019.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  



POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-49 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REZONING 
AMENDMENT FOR MAKAPA LLC., FOR BELLE 
COMMONS BUSINESS PARK FROM R-3 (ONE-
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT) TO R-3 PMU (ONE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) ON APPROXIMATELY 11.128 
ACRES (PARCELS 419-122-01-027-000 & 419-122-01-
029-000) AND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF 
BELLE AVENUE AND ON THE EAST SIDE OF LIBERTY 
ROAD. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of August 7, 2019 
recommended approval of a Rezoning Amendment for MAKAPA LLC., for Belle 
Commons Business Park from R-3 (One-Family Residential Business District) to 
R-3 PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay 
District) on approximately 11.128 acres  (parcels 419-122-01-027-000 & 419-122-
01-029-000) and located on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the east side of 
Liberty Road (PC Case 2018-1965).  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Rezoning Amendment for MAKAPA LLC., for Belle 
Commons Business Park from R-3 (One-Family Residential Business District) to 
R-3 PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay 
District) on approximately 11.128 acres  (parcels 419-122-01-027-000 & 419-122-
01-029-000) and located on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the east side of 
Liberty Road, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following 
condition that: 
 
1. Any change of land use shall require conformance to all provisions of the 

Development Text and any conditions of approval. 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 



 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  17    DATE: 08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-50    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       August 26, 2019 at 7:40 p.m. 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ALLOWING THE 
PLACEMENT OF A PMU (PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) TO BE 
ESTABLISHED FOR BELLE COMMONS BUSINESS PARK ON APPROXIMATELY 
11.128 ACRES (PARCELS 419-122-01-027-000 & 419-122-01-029-000) AND 
LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF BELLE AVENUE AND ON THE EAST SIDE 
OF LIBERTY ROAD. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1148 Conditional Use Regulations of the 
zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0 on August 7, 
2019.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 



N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-50 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT ALLOWING THE PLACEMENT OF A PMU 
(PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) TO BE 
ESTABLISHED FOR BELLE COMMONS BUSINESS 
PARK ON APPROXIMATELY 11.128 ACRES (PARCELS 
419-122-01-027-000 & 419-122-01-029-000) AND 
LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF BELLE AVENUE 
AND ON THE EAST SIDE OF LIBERTY ROAD.  
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of August 7, 2019 
recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit allowing the placement of a 
PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) to be established for Belle Commons 
Business Park on approximately 11.128 acres (parcels 419-122-01-027-000 & 
419-122-01-029-000) and located on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the 
east side of Liberty Road (PC Case 2018-1966).  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Conditional Use Permit allowing the placement of a 
PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) to be established for Belle Commons 
Business Park on approximately 11.128 acres (parcels 419-122-01-027-000 & 
419-122-01-029-000) and located on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the 
east side of Liberty Road, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  18    DATE: 08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-51    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN  FOR 
MAKAPA LLC., FOR BELLE COMMONS BUSINESS PARK  ON 
APPROXIMATELY 11.128 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED R-3 PMU (ONE-
FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY 
DISTRICT)  AND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF BELLE AVENUE AND ON 
THE EAST SIDE OF LIBERTY ROAD.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129 requirements of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0 on August 7, 
2019.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-51 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PRELIMINARY 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN  FOR MAKAPA LLC., FOR BELLE 
COMMONS BUSINESS PARK  ON APPROXIMATELY 
11.128 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED R-3 PMU (ONE-
FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED 
MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT)  AND LOCATED ON 
THE NORTH SIDE OF BELLE AVENUE AND ON THE 
EAST SIDE OF LIBERTY ROAD. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of August 7, 2019 
recommended approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for MAKAPA LLC., for 
Belle Commons Business Park on approximately 11.128 acres on property zoned 
R-3 PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay 
District) and located on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the east side of 
Liberty Road (PC Case 2018-1967).  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Preliminary Development Plan for MAKAPA LLC., for 
Belle Commons Business Park on approximately 11.128 acres on property zoned 
R-3 PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay 
District) and located on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the east side of 
Liberty Road, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following 
conditions that: 

1. The applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any 
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the 
Engineering Department once a complete plan set is submitted for 
review. 

2. The number of required parking spaces shall in accordance with the 
approved development text and approved Final Development Plan. 

3. The proposed buildings shall achieve compliance with the design 
standards of the approved development text.  

4. There are two preserves with one located at the southwestern portion of 
the site along Liberty Avenue and Belle Road which is approximately 
2.398 acres while a second tree preserve is located along the eastern 
portion of the site adjacent to the single family homes which is 1.455 



acres and they shall be within an easement with the appropriate 
language that would need to be reviewed and approved by staff and then 
be recorded at the county.  

5. The applicant shall be required to pay a tree replacement fee calculated 
at $1,900 per the submitted tree survey to achieve compliance with 
Chapter 1168 Tree Preservation Regulations along with the approved 
development text. 

6. Street trees shall be installed along Liberty Road per the zoning code 
during the Final Development Plan process. 

7. Any landscape plans shall be reviewed and approved by the Shade Tree 
Commission. 

8. A lighting plan shall be reviewed and approved by the City per Chapter 
1158 Lighting Plan during the Final Development Plan process. 

9. Any signage shall be documented on the Final Development Plan and 
achieve compliance with the adopted Gateways and Corridor Plan. 

10. The entire development shall achieve compliance with the minimum 
engineering, public works and fire department requirements.  

11. A sidewalk shall be required along Liberty Road and a sidewalk shall 
be required along Belle Avenue with a pedestrian crossing per the City 
Engineer.  The  sidewalks and the Belle Avenue pedestrian crossing 
shall be installed prior to any final occupancy approval for the first 
building in the subject development. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  19    DATE: 08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-52    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PRELIMINARY SUBDIVISION PLAT  FOR 
MAKAPA LLC., FOR BELLE COMMONS BUSINESS PARK  ON 
APPROXIMATELY 11.128 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED R-3 PMU (ONE-
FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY 
DISTRICT)  AND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF BELLE AVENUE AND ON 
THE EAST SIDE OF LIBERTY ROAD. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1111 Subdivision Regulations of the 
zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0 on August 7, 
2019.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-52 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PRELIMINARY 
SUBDIVISION PLAT  FOR MAKAPA LLC., FOR BELLE 
COMMONS BUSINESS PARK  ON APPROXIMATELY 
11.128 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED R-3 PMU (ONE-
FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED 
MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT)  AND LOCATED ON 
THE NORTH SIDE OF BELLE AVENUE AND ON THE 
EAST SIDE OF LIBERTY ROAD. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of August 7, 2019 
recommended approval of a Preliminary Subdivision Plat for MAKAPA LLC., for 
Belle Commons Business Park on approximately 11.128 acres on property zoned 
R-3 PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay 
District) and located on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the east side of 
Liberty Road (PC Case 2018-1968). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Preliminary Subdivision Plat for MAKAPA LLC., for 
Belle Commons Business Park on approximately 11.128 acres on property zoned 
R-3 PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay 
District) and located on the north side of Belle Avenue and on the east side of 
Liberty Road, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following 
conditions that: 

1. The applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any 
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the 
Engineering Department once a complete plan set is submitted for 
review. 

2. The number of required parking spaces shall in accordance with the 
approved development text and approved Final Development Plan. 

3. The proposed buildings shall achieve compliance with the design 
standards of the approved development text.  

4. There are two preserves with one located at the southwestern portion of 
the site along Liberty Avenue and Belle Road which is approximately 
2.398 acres while a second tree preserve is located along the eastern 
portion of the site adjacent to the single family homes which is 1.455 



acres and they shall be within an easement with the appropriate 
language that would need to be reviewed and approved by staff and then 
be recorded at the county.  

5. The applicant shall be required to pay a tree replacement fee calculated 
at $1,900 per the submitted tree survey to achieve compliance with 
Chapter 1168 Tree Preservation Regulations along with the approved 
development text. 

6. Street trees shall be installed along Liberty Road per the zoning code 
during the Final Development Plan process. 

7. Any landscape plans shall be reviewed and approved by the Shade Tree 
Commission. 

8. A lighting plan shall be reviewed and approved by the City per Chapter 
1158 Lighting Plan during the Final Development Plan process. 

9. Any signage shall be documented on the Final Development Plan and 
achieve compliance with the adopted Gateways and Corridor Plan. 

10. The entire development shall achieve compliance with the minimum 
engineering, public works and fire department requirements.  

11. A sidewalk shall be required along Liberty Road and a sidewalk shall 
be required along Belle Avenue with a pedestrian crossing per the City 
Engineer.  The sidewalks and the Belle Avenue pedestrian crossing 
shall be installed prior to any final occupancy approval for the first 
building in the subject development. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 











































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  20    DATE: 08/26/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-40 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE 2020-2024 FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN (CIP). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
A work session to discuss the CIP has been scheduled for Thursday, September 
12 and Monday, September 30 (if needed). 
   
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Pursuant to Section 79 of the Charter, the CIP is to be submitted to City 
Council by August 15 and adopted no later than October 15.  Adoption is 
scheduled for Council’s October 14 meeting. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
Dean Stelzer, Finance Director 



 
RECOMMENDATION: 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
CIP 



RESOLUTION 19-40 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE 2020-2024 FIVE-
YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN (CIP). 

 
 WHEREAS, a revised Five-Year Capital Improvements Plan was prepared 
and submitted to City Council in accordance with Article XVII, Section 79 of 
the City Charter; and 
 
 WHEREAS, City Council has considered the proposed plan and has 
determined that it shall be the future public improvement plan for the City of 
Delaware; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Article XVII, Section 80 of the City Charter requires that City 
Council adopt, by resolution, the Five-Year Capital Improvements Program on 
or before October 15; and 
 
 WHEREAS, City Council will review the 2020-2024 CIP at Work Sessions 
before October 14. 
 
 WHEREAS, Council discussed possible amendments to the plan which 
may be considered as part of the adopted 2020 budget.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the 2020-2024 Five-Year Capital Improvements 
Program for the General Fund, Airport, Fire, Police, Public Works, Parks, 
Equipment Replacement, Technology, Building Maintenance, Water, Sewer, 
Storm Sewer, Refuse, Parks Impact, Police Impact, and Fire Impact attached 
hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby adopted as the official plan for future public 
improvements. 
 
 SECTION 2.  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after its passage.   
 
 
PASSED:     _____________________, 2019  YEAS ____     NAYS ____ 
        ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: __________________________     ____________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

DISCUSSION ITEM A: 
 

Rule Suspension 
Guidelines 



Guidelines for Ordinance Readings 
 

1. As a general rule, legislation amending the Delaware Codified 
Ordinances, adopting the annual budget, and adjusting City 
employee compensation, will proceed to three readings. 

 
2. Except in very rare circumstances, development Development projects 

will g e n e r a l l y  f o l l o w  t h e  f o l l o w i n g : go to at least two 
readings. 

 
a. When a formal public hearing is required by code (such as but not limited 

to Conditional Use Permits and Zoning Amendments) a minimum of 2 
readings shall be required.  Applicants may reasonably expect that cases 
will receive the full 3 readings unless If no members of the public 
testify in opposition to the project at the public hearing, 
Council may vote on the second reading. 

a.b. When a formal public hearing is not required by code (such as but not 
limited to Development Plans and Plats), City Council will consider 
approving cases at the first reading.  Applicants may reasonably expect 
that Council will take additional readings in order to receive additional 
information, if there is public comment in opposition to the project, or 
other reasons as Council may see fit.  

 
b. Re-development  projects that do not require a public hearing 

may be approved at the first reading. 
 

c. In the event that Council has canceled a regularly scheduled 
meeting that would otherwise have been the second reading, 
it may proceed on the first reading if the aApplicants need 
to  demons t ra teshows it they will suffer substantial adverse 
economic impact by waiting for additional readings but 
Council shall take as many readings as they deem necessary 
to receive comment and information sufficient to make a 
decision in their sole judgement,. 

 
d. Applicants shall be made aware of these guidelienes but 

shall also be informed that Council might take the 
legislation development case to three or more readings and 
plan accordingly when preparing their application. 

 
3. Council might suspend the rules on the first reading m the following 

circumstances: 
 

 a. Emergencies/ Unexpected  circumstances  which  prevented 
 staff from putting the item on the agenda earlier. 

b. Uncontroversial  items such as legislation  accepting grants, 
 entering into intergovernmental agreements, and authorizing 
 routine financial transactions. 

c. Time Sensitive legislation  which  requires  an effective  date 
  before another meeting can be scheduled. 
 d. Economic Incentives Offered Pursuant Pre-Approved 

Economic Development Incentive Plan (EDIP). 
 



4. In the event a motion to suspend the rules is made during the first 
reading, the public will be given an opportunity to address council prior 
to the vote on the agenda item. 

 
5. When staff is requesting that Council suspend the rules requiring three 

readings, staff will indicate why a rule suspension is necessary in its 
recommendation included in the council packet. When possible, staff 
will provide insight as to why the item was not placed on the agenda 
earlier. 



TO: Members of City Council

FROM: Dean Stelzer, Finance Director

DATE: August 15, 2019

Reports Included

Page                     Reports                   Purpose

2 Revenues by Source This summary compares year-to-date revenues for 2019 to 2018 by source.

3  General Fund Summary of General Fund budgeted revenues, expenditures and fund 

  balance.

4 Other  Operating Funds Summary of budgeted revenues, expenditures, & fund balances for 

   non-general fund operating funds.

5 Other Funds Other non-operating funds revenues, expenditures and fund balance.

6 Insurance Summary of the City's self-funded health insurance costs with 

  comparisons to last year.

7 Income Tax Monthly income tax collections for last three years.  Also includes 

  tax collection projections for remainder of the year.

YTD 2019 Budget Supplementals

19-03 $150,000 - Donation Fund - Hayes Statue 

19-04 $28,000  -  CIP Fund Electric Parking System

19-15 $1,150,000 - CIP E. William St. Grant Project

19-16 $160,000 - CIP FUND Annex Improvements

19-17  $650,000 - General Fund Transfers to CIP and SMR

19-39 $10,000 - Gen Fund Regional Housing Study

19-45 $6,000 - Dev Res Fund Incentive Grant

JULY FINANCE REPORT



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT
REVENUES BY SOURCE

July 31, 2019
Revenues Revenues  
@ 7/31/19 @ 7/31/18 % Change

TAXES
Income Tax 18,188,354$         17,326,090$         4.98%

 Property Tax 1,117,668             1,956,592             -42.88%
Local Government Fund 376,694                355,506                5.96%
Hotel/Motel Tax 38,741                  46,941                  -17.47%
Gasoline Taxes 700,018                676,668                3.45%
License Plate Tax 398,013                406,941                -2.19%

 
FEES  

Franchise Fee (cable tv) 208,208$              202,464$              2.84%
Parking Meter & Lot Fees 48,321                  47,195                  2.39%
Fines/Forfeitures/Court Diversion Fees 74,283                  83,170                  -10.69%
Impact Fees 640,784                606,641                5.63%
Airport - Fuel 362,696                381,547                -4.94%
Cemetery 105,156                83,190                  26.40%
Golf Course 109,158                110,465                -1.18%

REIMBURSEMENTS
Engineering Fees 205,241$              733,748$              -72.03%
Fire/EMS Reimbursement 188,718                523,406                0.00%
Prosecutor Reimbursements 178,490                79,280                  125.14%
Building Permits and Fees 763,409                718,930                6.19%

 
UTILITY CHARGES   

Water  -  Meter Charges 3,151,919$           3,136,078$           0.51%
           -  Capacity Fees 1,917,444             1,529,738             25.34%
Sewer  -  Meter Charges 3,798,496             3,735,061             1.70%
           -  Capacity Fees 1,841,455             1,463,639             25.81%
Refuse 2,071,300             2,016,109             2.74%
Storm Sewer 505,709                501,282                0.88%

MUNICIPAL COURT REVENUES 1,965,555$           1,984,598$           -0.96%
 

2



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT
GENERAL FUND REVENUES

July 31, 2019
July 58.00% of year Comparative

Revenues 2019 Revenues As Revenues % Change
7/31/2019 Budget % of Budget 7/31/2018 YTD

GENERAL FUND
Property Tax 855,424 1,629,406 52.50% 1,507,124 0.00%

City Income Tax 9,833,185 15,645,000 62.85% 9,369,791 4.95%

Other Taxes 997 0 0.00% 975 0.00%

Local Government Fund 376,694 618,976 60.86% 355,506 5.96%

Fines and Forfeitures 74,283 148,000 50.19% 83,170 (10.69%)

Engineering Fees 205,241 1,200,000 17.10% 733,748 (72.03%)

Prosecutor Contracts 178,490 285,000 62.63% 79,280 125.14%

Parking Meters 20,211 38,000 53.19% 22,289 (9.32%)

Other Fees and Contracts 26,095 0 0.00% 29,595 (11.83%)

Liquor Permits 40,906 45,000 90.90% 43,024 0.00%

Franchise Fees 208,208 405,000 51.41% 202,464 2.84%

Licenses & Permits 763,409 830,000 91.98% 718,930 6.19%

Investment Income 498,094 650,000 76.63% 341,263 45.96%

Miscellaneous 140,235 110,000 127.49% 43,812 0.00%

Reimbursements 107,242 200,000 53.62% 119,263 (10.08%)

Transfers 1,141,563 1,920,000 59.46% 1,204,259 (5.21%)

TOTAL 14,470,277 23,724,382 60.99% 14,854,493 (2.59%)

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 
Comparative

Expenses 2019 Expenses As Expenses % Change
7/31/2019 Budget % of Budget 7/31/2018 YTD

GENERAL FUND
City Council 91,926 184,347 49.87% 89,358 2.87%

City Manager 450,859 823,711 54.74% 413,335 9.08%

Human Resources 232,657 358,692 64.86% 162,405 43.26%

Economic Development 259,047 474,137 54.64% 264,406 (2.03%)

Legal Affairs/Prosecution 428,030 842,343 50.81% 452,012 (5.31%)

Finance 817,584 1,485,683 55.03% 888,342 (7.97%)

Income Tax Refunds 470,105 450,000 104.47% 350,820 34.00%

General Administration 4,049,938 6,090,255 66.50% 3,495,160 15.87%

Risk Management 274,473 349,100 78.62% 33,435 720.92%

Police 4,802,798 9,105,357 52.75% 4,891,519 (1.81%)

Planning 627,816 1,268,512 49.49% 673,322 (6.76%)

Engineering 862,394 1,988,887 43.36% 921,173 (6.38%)

City Buildings 297,460 554,958 53.60% 266,589 11.58%

TOTAL 13,665,087 23,975,982 56.99% 12,901,876 5.92%

General Fund Beginning Balance January 1, 2019 5,184,249           

 2019 General Fund Revenues 14,470,277       

 2019 General Fund Expenditures (13,665,087)      

 Advances to Other Funds 1,236,286          

 Outstanding Encumbrances 7/31/19 (629,016)            

General Fund Ending Fund Balance July, 31, 2019 6,596,709         

3



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT
OTHER OPERATING FUNDs

July 31, 2019
 

REVENUES
Comparative

Revenues 2019 Revenues As Revenues % Change
7/31/2019 Budget % of Budget 7/31/2018 YTD

STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 2,215,310 3,231,000 68.56% 1,695,022 30.70%

STORM SEWER 506,758 863,000 58.72% 502,208 0.91%

PARKS AND RECREATION 1,027,014 1,571,500 65.35% 771,599 33.10%

CEMETERY 163,489 256,000 63.86% 138,609 17.95%

AIRPORT OPERATIONS 480,640 924,840 51.97% 486,270 (1.16%)

FIRE/EMS INCOME TAX 7,206,878 11,866,361 60.73% 7,303,351 (1.32%)

MUNICIPAL COURT 1,407,722 2,744,000 51.30% 1,403,528 0.30%

GOLF COURSE 109,158 183,500 59.49% 110,465 (1.18%)

WATER 3,411,557 6,536,132 52.20% 3,315,838 2.89%

SEWER 4,107,646 7,407,971 55.45% 3,992,147 2.89%

REFUSE 2,128,816 3,672,095 57.97% 2,066,279 3.03%

GARAGE ROTARY 359,300 718,600 50.00% 327,578 9.68%

INFORMATION TECH. ROTARY 538,116 1,076,017 50.01% 538,009 0.02%

TOTAL 23,662,404 41,051,016 57.64% 22,650,903 4.47%

 

 EXPENDITURES
Comparative

Expenditures 2019 Expenses As Expenses % Change
7/31/2019 Budget % of Budget 7/31/2018 YTD

STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 1,706,658 3,313,335 51.51% 1,728,767 (1.28%)

STORM SEWER 389,471 1,380,464 28.21% 307,043 26.85%

PARKS AND RECREATION 780,528 1,592,532 49.01% 792,656 (1.53%)

CEMETERY 135,531 315,113 43.01% 141,951 (4.52%)

AIRPORT OPERATIONS 569,438 974,226 58.45% 480,897 18.41%

FIRE/EMS INCOME TAX 6,642,809 11,182,079 59.41% 6,114,046 8.65%

MUNICIPAL COURT 1,447,034 2,734,190 52.92% 1,502,243 (3.68%)

GOLF COURSE 62,474 183,401 34.06% 99,833 (37.42%)

WATER OPERATIONS 3,387,923 6,336,213 53.47% 3,456,620 (1.99%)

SEWER OPERATIONS 3,783,362 7,075,047 53.47% 3,584,762 5.54%

REFUSE 2,076,305 3,813,216 54.45% 3,324,328 (37.54%)

GARAGE ROTARY 347,936 707,989 49.14% 360,155 (3.39%)

INFORMATION TECH. ROTARY 698,223 1,384,166 50.44% 617,854 13.01%

TOTAL 22,027,692 40,991,971 53.74% 22,511,155 (2.15%)

 

FUND BALANCES
Fund Fund

Balance Revenues Expenditures Outstanding Balance
1/1/2019 7/31/2019 7/31/2019 Encumb. 7/31/2019

STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 461,581 2,215,310 1,706,658 203,419 766,814

STORM SEWER 1,868,735 506,758 389,471 157,522 1,828,500

PARKS AND RECREATION 218,433 1,027,014 780,528 187,733 277,186

CEMETERY 265,769 163,489 135,531 3,284 290,443

AIRPORT OPERATIONS 272,195 480,640 569,438 41,945 141,452

FIRE/EMS INCOME TAX 9,031,814 7,206,878 6,642,809 221,103 9,374,780

MUNICIPAL COURT 2,744,978 1,407,722 1,447,034 19,869 2,685,797

GOLF COURSE 39,762 109,158 62,474 10,025 76,421

WATER OPERATIONS 1,219,585 3,411,557 3,387,923 237,014 1,006,205

SEWER OPERATIONS 3,134,518 4,107,646 3,783,362 171,016 3,287,786

REFUSE 909,634 2,128,816 2,076,305 415,225 546,920

GARAGE ROTARY 385,951 359,300 347,936 119,138 278,177

INFORMATION TECH. ROTARY 864,189 538,116 698,223 66,848 637,234

TOTAL 21,417,144 23,662,404 22,027,692 1,854,141 21,197,7154



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT
OTHER FUND REVENUES/EXPENSES/FUND BALANCE

July 31, 2019
Beginning Ending

Fund Revenues Expenses Outstanding Fund
Balance 7/31/2019 7/31/2019 Encumbrances Balance

STATE HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENT 219,665 66,320 3,236 260 282,489

LICENSE FEE 238,083 258,751 51,546 247 445,041

TREE FUND 156,124 9,437 50,924 0 114,637

AIRPORT 2000 T-HANGAR 173,352 58,883 35,798 0 196,437

RECREATION FACILITIES TAX 4,583,228 1,534,588 923,901 239,970 4,953,945

AIRPORT TIF 109,485 13,626 0 0 123,111

GLENN RD BRIDGE TIF 2,878,284 512,993 1,379,621 359,792 1,651,864

SKY CLIMBER/V&P TIF 0 24,151 24,151 45,849 (45,849)

MILL RUN TIF 0 84,041 84,041 85,959 (85,959)

COURT IDIAM 30,321 18,647 26,829 4,219 17,920

DRUG ENFORCEMENT 57,260 2,765 16,819 1,112 42,094

COURT ALCOHOL TREATMENT 546,244 33,120 14,089 0 565,275

OMVI ENFORCEMENT/EDUCATION 6,468 1,255 3,471 0 4,252

POLICE JUDGEMENT 121,012 11,491 25,000 17,192 90,311

PARK DEVELOPMENT 184,116 0 0 0 184,116

COMPUTER LEGAL RESEARCH 714,293 154,951 43,660 73,223 752,361

COURT SPECIAL PROJECTS 752,409 157,294 37,638 6,720 865,345

PROBATION SERVICES 572,555 189,801 20,510 27,668 714,178

POLICE/FIRE DISABILITY 0 262,244 262,244 0 0

COMMUNITY PROMOTION FUND 69,220 38,741 68,899 44,125 (5,063)

CDBG GRANT 2,530 0 9,151 120,010 (126,631)

ED REVOLVING LOAN 270,186 62,443 83,192 54,019 195,418

HOUSING GRANT PROGRAM INCOME 0 8,150 0 0 8,150

CHIP GRANT 0 0 0 0 0

GENERAL BOND RETIREMENT 336,521 636,433 632,295 0 340,659

PARK IMPROV BONDS FUND 111,273 774,870 357,701 0 528,442

SE HIGHLAND SEWER BOND FUND 83,995 584,820 278,304 0 390,511

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 2,037,627 1,920,228 1,957,157 1,087,014 913,684

POINT PROJECT 565,337 177,498 101,010 832,273 (190,448)

FAA AIRPORT GRANT 48,413 0 0 0 48,413

FAA AIRPORT AIP GRANT 47,948 0 0 81,360 (33,412)

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT 158,550 250,000 99,644 299,208 9,698

PARK IMPACT FEE 1,455,146 314,228 67,528 108,477 1,593,369

POLICE IMPACT FEE 354,038 75,118 7,813 165 421,178

FIRE IMPACT FEE 397,705 130,479 79,954 169 448,061

MUNICIPAL SERVICES IMPACT FEE 361,999 154,846 158,886 227 357,732

GLENN ROAD CONSTRUCTION FUNDS 3,112,362 8,818,107 10,421,158 36,095 1,473,216

PARKING LOTS 45,944 28,110 23,176 14,288 36,590

WATER CIP 12,555,562 2,881,664 2,396,800 527,221 12,513,205

SEWER CIP 8,821,116 4,083,750 3,260,806 457,590 9,186,470

SELF INSURANCE 1,508,194 3,253,867 3,782,187 10,269 969,605

WORKERS COMP RESERVE 2,628,786 128,851 237,431 22,231 2,497,975

FIRE DONATION 6,345 0 5,462 0 883

PARK DONATION 16,410 47,984 47,700 9,600 7,094

POLICE DONATION 7,809 0 182 0 7,627

MAYOR'S DONATION 1,202 800 751 261 990

PROJECT TRUST 693,554 25,394 0 10,000 708,948

UNCLAIMED FUNDS 85,371 14,879 893 0 99,357

DEVELOPMENT RESERVE FUND 964,886 0 0 0 964,886

RESERVE ACCOUNT FUND 1,163,864 0 0 0 1,163,864

BERKSHIRE JEDD FUND 57,099 244,294 194,962 311,982 (205,551)

CEMETERY PERPETUAL CARE FUND 34,191 418 690 0 33,919

STATE PATROL TRANSFER 9,699 33,166 42,865 0 0

STATE BUILDING PERMIT FEES 466 9,163 7,723 0 1,906
PERFORMANCE BOND FUND 667,238 294,415 20,931 3,513 937,209

TOTAL 50,023,485 28,387,074 27,348,729 4,892,308 46,169,522

5



City of Delaware
      Employee Health Insurance Plan

 July 31, 2019
 

July YTD 2019 % of YTD % Change
Account 2019 2019 Budget Budget 2018 2018-19

Life Insurance 2,115$            14,823$          27,000$          54.9% 818$                1712.1%

 

Insurance Opt-Out 2,095               15,265            30,500            50.0% 15,765            -3.2%

Preventative Care 1,148               13,326            55,000            24.2% 20,088            -33.7%

Vision Coverage 2,424               14,690            28,500            51.5% 22,153            0.0%

Administrative Fees

Excise Tax -                   2,891               5,000               0.0% 2,820               0.0%

 TPA Fees 8,206               56,805            99,500            57.1% 54,765            3.7%

 PPO Fees 3,151               22,011            40,000            55.0% 21,393            2.9%
 Broker Fees 422                  4,348               6,500               66.9% 3,395               0.0%

  Total Admin 11,779            86,055            151,000          57.0% 82,373            4.5%
 

Stop Loss Insurance 70,913            495,751          795,000          62.4% 432,261          14.7%

Claims   

 Medical 347,803          2,279,613       4,250,000       53.6% 2,080,270       9.6%

 Dental 22,414            155,726          285,000          54.6% 144,544          7.7%
 Prescription 101,210          706,938          850,000          83.2% 507,022          39.4%

  Total Claims 471,427          3,142,277       5,385,000       58.4% 2,731,836       15.0%

Total Costs 561,901          3,782,187       6,472,000       58.4% 3,305,294       14.4%

Employee Payment 78,287            565,181          893,568          63.2% 564,680          

Reimbursements 37,393            291,513          500,000          58.3% 176,227           

NET PLAN COSTS 446,221$        2,925,493$    5,078,432$    57.6% 2,564,387$    14.1%

6



MONTHLY INCOME TAX REVENUES 
2017-2019

 2017    2018    2019   

% OF % OF % OF

W/H PERSONAL BUSINESS TOTAL ACTUAL W/H PERSONAL BUSINESS TOTAL ACTUAL W/H PERSONAL BUSINESS TOTAL BUDGET
               

JANUARY 1,794,272 205,680 204,662 2,204,614 1,741,914 440,952 56,565 2,239,431 1,570,681 603,605 80,207 2,254,493

FEBRUARY 1,304,987 327,145 95,437 1,727,569 1,389,048 337,974 56,041 1,783,063 1,616,403 398,566 112,062 2,127,031

MARCH 1,175,241 625,299 195,522 1,996,062 1,240,476 682,589 192,027 2,115,092 1,308,699 737,799 133,499 2,179,997

APRIL 1,786,686 2,352,889 1,092,340 5,231,915 1,949,558 2,433,093 806,548 5,189,199 1,941,656 2,595,734 781,735 5,319,125

MAY 1,388,195     185,269        50,869           1,624,333 1,387,867     213,714        18,117           1,619,698 1,440,447 242,575 54,049 1,737,071

JUNE 1,284,197     481,309        167,392         1,932,898 1,407,521     622,838        374,208         2,404,567 1,696,517 732,504 153,590 2,582,611

JULY 1,680,268 158,901 62,961 1,902,130 1,718,647 227,721 28,964 1,975,332 1,630,973 329,142 27,910 1,988,025

SUBTOTAL 10,413,846 4,336,492 1,869,183 16,619,521 64.17% 10,835,031 4,958,881 1,532,470 17,326,382 62.26% 11,205,376 5,639,925 1,343,052 18,188,353 62.86%

AUGUST 1,395,822 124,025 26,462 1,546,309 1,363,624 171,517 142,149 1,677,290

SEPTEMBER 1,303,188 421,650 287,996 2,012,834 1,648,825 624,312 164,383 2,437,520

OCTOBER 1,697,249     257,687        81,440           2,036,376 1,675,716     307,591        462,819         2,446,126

NOVEMBER 1,438,751     175,718        30,847           1,645,316 1,442,983     252,947        59,435           1,755,365

DECEMBER 1,419,960 388,069 229,805 2,037,834 1,688,530 412,229 85,907 2,186,666  

   

  TOTALS 17,668,816 5,703,641 2,525,732 25,898,189 97.31% 18,654,709 6,727,477 2,447,163 27,829,349 101.43% 11,205,376 5,639,925 1,343,052 18,188,353 62.86%

   

  BUDGETED 26,614,811 27,437,537 28,936,941

Total JULY  % of Annual Projection based on ten year trend!  

Receipts Receipts  Collections JULY 2019 RECEIPTS = $18,188,353 

2009 14,719,896 9,407,197 63.91%

2010 15,185,348 9,670,760 63.68%   HIGH = 62.26% $29,213,833 

2011 17,765,717 11,161,927 62.83%   LOW = 64.17% $28,343,125 

2012 19,658,101 12,534,905 63.76%

2013 20,557,766 13,020,081 63.33%   LAST 3 YR 

2014 21,537,420 13,816,113 64.15%   AVG   = 63.20% $28,780,604 

2015 22,852,743 14,375,915 62.91%

2016 24,975,316 15,773,984 63.16% *2019 BUDGETED RECEIPTS $28,936,941 

2017 25,898,396 16,619,521 64.17%

2018 27,829,349 17,326,382 62.26%

10 Year Avg. 63.42%

7



City Manager Report 20190826 
 

 
 
 
 
TO:  Mayor Riggle and Members of Council 
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Miscellaneous Matters 
 
DATE: August 22, 2019 
 
 
1. Calendar 
 See Attached 
 
2. Per Section 73 Of The City Charter The City Manager Is To Report 

Contract Agreements 
 N/A 
 
3. Meetings 
 August 6 
  911 Board Meeting 
 August 8 
  Regional Housing Strategy – MORPC 
  MORPC Commission Meeting 
 August 12 
  Rotary 
  ICMA 2022 Meeting 
  Northern NCA Meeting 
  Council Meeting 
   
  
  
  



August 
 

 

2019 
  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
    1 2 3 

       

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
  Public Works/Public 

Utilities 6 pm 
Planning Commission 
6:30 pm 

   

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 
 Council 7pm  Civil Service 4 pm 

BZA 6:30 pm -Canceled 
   

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
 Finance -4 pm 

Parking and Safety - 
 6 pm Canceled 

     

25 26 27 28 29 30 31 
 Council 7pm Shade Tree 6:30pm Historic Preservation 

Commission 6:30 pm 
   

       
       

 



September 
 

 

2019 
  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

 Labor Day 
City Offices Closed 

 Civil Service 3:00 pm 
Planning 6:30 pm 

   

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 
 Council 7:00 pm 

 
 BZA 7:00 pm CIP Work Session 6:00 

pm 
  

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 
  Parks & Rec Board 

6:30 pm 
    

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 
 Council 7:00 pm  HPC 6:30 pm    

29 30      
 CIP Work Session 6:00 

pm (Tentative) 
     

       
       

 


	01 20190826 council agenda
	CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

	02 20190812 council minutes
	03 20190605 civil service minutes
	04 20190617 finance minutes
	05 fact sheet res 19-38, odot bridge inspection
	06 res 19-38 ODOT Bridge Inspection Services
	07 Certificate of Copy
	08 Exhibit A
	09 fact sheet 19-39, accept amounts rate budget commisison
	10 res 19-39,  accept amounts rate budget commission
	11 2019-08-09_095437
	12 presentation b
	13 presentation
	14 fact sheet res 19-34, fop contract
	15 res 19-34, fop contract
	16 fop contract (3)
	17 fop contract (4)
	18 fact sheet res 19-35, street naming policy 8.7.19
	19 res 19- 35,  Honorary Street Naming Policy 8.5.19
	20 Honorary Street Name Policy 8.22.19
	Honorary Street Naming Policy (Rev. August 22, 2019)

	21 fact sheet ord 19-46,  KrogerDC_CRA_8_8_19
	22 ord No 19-46, Kroger_CRA2019
	ABSTAIN ____

	23 Kroger_School Notification Letter2019expansion
	3735.671 Written agreement where commercial or industrial property is to be exempted.

	24 City of Delaware OH_2019 Incentives Application - Project Strix
	25 KROGER_CRA Agreement2019 Hughes and Thomas edits 6-21-19
	26 Kroger Co. School Comp Agreement_signedbyschool
	27 KrogerDCProjectmapExhibit
	28 factsheet ord 19- 47, 2019-1727 Rice Building REZ
	29 ord 19-47, 2019-1727 Rice Building REZ
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-47
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	30 fact sheet ord 19-48, 2019-1728 Rice Building CPFDP
	31 ord 19-48, 2019-1728 Rice Building CPFDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-48
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	32 The Rice Bldg staff report
	33 fact sheet ord 19-49, 2018-1965 Belle Commons Business Park REZ
	34 ord 19-49, 2018-1965 Belle Commons Business Park REZ
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-49
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	35 fact sheet ord 19-50, 2018-1966  Belle Commons Business Park  CUP
	36 ord 19-50, 2018-1966 Belle Commons Business Park CUP
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-50
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	37 factsheet ord 19-51, 2018-1967 Belle Commons Business Park PDP
	38 ord 19-51, 2018-1967 Belle Commons Business Park PDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-51
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	39 fact sheet ord 19-52, 2018-1968 Belle Commons Business Park PSP
	40 ord 19-52, 2018-1968 Belle Commons Business Park PSP
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-52
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	41 Belle Commons Business Park staff report
	42 Bell Commons Preliminary Devt Plan
	43 fact sheet res 19-40, 2020-2024 cip
	44 res 19-40, 2020-2024 cip
	46 DISCUSSION ITEM A
	47 res 14-18 adopt guidelines for readings (002)
	48 July 2019
	49 city managers report 20190826
	50 August 2019
	51 September 2019



